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INTRODUCTION

In October of 1933, Adolf Hitler, German Chancellor
and head of the National Socialist Party, pulled the Reich
out of the Geneva Disarmament Conference. By the spring of
1934, reports reached the French Inteiligence Agency that
indicated the Germans were rearming. This was publicly
confirmed by Hermann Goering who on March 10, 1934 announced
the creation of the German Air Force. On March 16, 1935,
Hitler demanded compulsory military service to be paralleled
by the development of twelve army corps or thirty-six
divisions, a plan that would keep about 500,000 men.in
uniform. 1In the .same year, the construction of a fleet of
German submarines began,

A special aspect of German rearmament was the
development of the armored corps or panzer division. The
brain child of Heinz Guderian, a German officer who had seen
the success and failure of tanks during the First World War,
these special divisions allowed the tank to. assume the
primary role in battle instead of being subordinated to the

infantry.l They lent maneuverability and speed to military

lGuderian was the author of Achtung-Panzer! Die
Entwicklung der Panzerwaffe, ihre Xampfstaktik und ihre
operative Moglichkeiten (Stuttgart: Union Deutsche
Verlagsgesellschaft, 1937).




strategy, a sharp contrast to the static; linear defense
that so dominated the World War I theaters. As a mate for
these mobile armored columns, dive bombers were added.
Known as Stukas, these planes were to precede the panzers
or tanks so as to silence antitank artillery.

Hitler accompanied this rearmament by an increas-
ingly aggressive foreign policy. His long range aims:
revenge for the war guilt clause of the Versailles Treaty,
annihilation of France as an independent force, and living
space in the East were cleverly disguised by a series of
short range diversionary tactics.2 These varied from
manipulating European fears of Bolshevism to playing on
French guilt feelings over the harshness of the Versailles
Pact. Whenever Hitler made a specific move, it was often in
response to a supposed threat. An example was the reoccu-
pation of the Rhineland on March 7, 1936, justified on the
grounds that the Franco-Soviet Entente of February 1936
threatened Germany with encirclement.

France was ill prepared to face Hitler. Exhausted
by the loss of life, physical disability’ of veterans, and
material damage of World War I, the nation signed a series
of treaties whose terms the country proved unable to live

up to. The first was an alliance with Poland drawn up in

2In his autobiographical account, Hitler wrote:
"France is and remains the inexorable enemy of the German
people." See Adolf Hitler, Mein Kampf [translator not
indicated]} (New York: Stackpole Sons, 1939), p. 600.




1921. It stated that as mutual allies, France or Poland
would assist the other partner in case of atﬁack by a third
party. Also drawn up was the Locarno Treaty of 1925. 1In
this arrangement, Germany, France, aﬁd Belgium agreed to
respect their common frontiers and to foreswear the use of
war against each other except in self-defense or in accor-
dance with the League of Natiéns covenant. Great Britain
and Italy guaranteed the Rhineland chapter of the Treaty
which forbade German military reoccupation of the Rhineland
as stipulated in the Versailles settlement of 1918.

The Petite Entente rounded out the series of
alliances drawn up during the 1920s. Completed in 1927, it
included the Central European powers of Czechoslovakia,
Yugoslavia, and Rumania. Understood was military aid given
by France in case one of these nations was attacked by an
aggressor. The one serious weakness in this and other
treaties was the diminished or absent position of Franée's
strongest European ally, Britain. Determined to steer clear
of continental entanglements, England saw itself much more
as an arbitrator between France and Germany than as a third
party ready ﬁo act in case of aggression against France.

With this as a background, the 1930s worked to the
disadvantage of France in terms of foreign policy. Unablé
to rely on an ineffective League of Nations, the country
witnessed the reoccupation of the left bank of the Rhine in

1936 partly because Britain refused tc intervene. In the



year before, the same lack of resolve on the part of the
two western democracies had been responsible for allowing
Benito Mussolini to pursue his big coup of the 1930s, the
Italian invaSion of Ethiopia. Further, the Franco-Soviet
Accords of February 1936 were too weak to insure Russian
aid in casé of German aggression. Thus the stage was set
for the Munich Accords of September 1938. |

Perhaps more than any other event of the 1930s, this
arrangement demonstrated the diplomatic weakness of France.
Hitler, supported by Mussolini, wrested a settlement from
Neville Chamberlain and Edouard Daladier that allowed
Germany to annex the Sudetenland sector of Czechoslovakia,
a deal that made the rest of this slavic coﬁntry vulnerable
to immediate and successful attack._ In this respect, Munich
saw the complete bankruptcy of French foreign policy since
the understanding was a flagrant violation of the Petite
Entente.

One of'the main reasons for French weakness was the
failure to align foreign policy on military strategy. 1In
truth, France did not develop an army capable of fulfilling
its alliances. The reasons for this stemmed back to the
1921 publication by the general staff of a manual on the

tactical employment of army units. Known as the Instruction

provisoire du 6 octobre 1921 sur l'emploi tactique des
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grandes unités,3 this instruction booklet which set the tone
for Frehch military strategy between the wars stressed the
role of the infantry as the principal weapon of combat.
Supported bykartillery or fire power, the infantry could
anticipate a continuous front after having established
couverture, a situation in which specially designated
troops would stave off an attack until the bulk of the
military had been mobilized and assembled. While ultimate
victory lay in attack, the tank played a secondary role to
the infantry because_it was vulnerable to antitank weapons
and fuel limitations. In any event, it could not be
expected to penetrate.deeply behind enemy lines until the
latter's defenses had been sufficiently weakened.

This strategy, reiterated in a 1936 edition,4
complemented the laws on the organization and recruitment of
the army as passed by parliament in 1927-28. Reducing the
army to twenty divisions of 106,000 professionals and
240,000 conscripts, the measure left a skeleton force

intended only for the defense and not for the attack as

3M1nlstere de la Guerre, Instructlon prOV1501re du
6 octobre 1921 sur 1° emploi tactique des grandes unités
(Paris: Charles—Lavauzelle, 1930), pp. 10-11, 23-25, 112,
161.

4Ministére_de la Guerre, Instruction sur l'emploi
tactique des grandes unités (Paris: Charles-Lavauzelle,
- 1940), pp. 15, 17-18, 27, 44-47. This edition stressed that
only the offensive could give decisive results but it kept
all the details of the previous manual which overwhelmingly
supported a defensive doctrine.




would be needed if Germany attempted to reoccupy the
Rhineland or the Saar.

To reinforce the defensive concept, the construction
of the Maginot Line was undertaken in 1930. Completed in
1934, it consisted of 196 miles of concrete subterranean
forts and guns. Running from the Swiss to the Belgium
border, it was intended to protect France from another
disastrous invasion as had occurreé in 1914. As for the

remaining frontier from Belgium to the sea, couverture would

be used to protect the nation.

Another reason for French weakness abroad was the
Great Depression, an economic catastrophe so pervasive in
impact, it touched every aspect of French life. Thus when
the>Popu1ar Front coalition composed of Communists,
Socialists, and‘Radicals, took power in June of 1936, their
program for socio-economic reform was gradually wittled away
by continual fiscal crisis. The unrest that followed from
this distracted attention from important foreign policy and
military questions and forced the politicians to focus
unduly on domestic issues.

In the political arena, the severity of the
depression was aggravated by France's multiparty system in
which fragile coalitions made it difficult- for omne
government to stay in power long enough to work effectively
on economic problems. As the depiession worsened, the

frequency of cabinet changes accelerated. Attempts at



national union such as the Gaston Doumerque experiment in
1934 and the 1938 appeals of Léon Blum ended in failure.

Another factor working for internal weakness in
the face of growing foreign peril was the revelation of the
Stavisky scandal, an affair that implicated several key
politicians and which led to the February 1934 Place de la
Concorde riots. In addition to sharply reducing the credi-
bility of government leaders, the demonstrations pointed to
a growing hostility toward Third Republican politics. This
was best exemplified by the important role the street
leagues played in the riots. Essentially antiparliamehtary
in attitude, the leagues had little or no faith in the
democratic system of government.

One important repercussion of this loss of faith was
the obsession with the antidemocratic forces of fascism and
communism. French fear of sinking into one or the other
blurred rational thinking and caused politicians to hesitate
on crucial issues. Such was the case with the Spénish Civil
War, a prolonged and bloody conflict which sharply split the
nation into left-right camps thus eliminating godd judgement
and stalling effective response.

It was this France that Paul Reynaud knew. Born on
October 15, 1878 at Barcelonnette in the southern French
Alps, Reynaud was the son of a well to do French businessman.
At Paris, he attended the Lycée Louis le Grand and the

Sorbonne from which after a year of service in the



thirty-seventh Frenqh infantry, he earned a law degree.
After a trip around the world in 1906 at the'age of twénty-
eight, Reynaud returned to Paris and took a job as a
lawyer's secretary, a position that allowed him to plead
cases for his employer at the Palais de Justice. His
development of a succinct, simple style of defense earned
for him the position of first secretary of the Paris Bar
Association Conference. Other fame in the field came about
the same timé when he married the daughter of famous
Parisian lawyer, Henri-Robert.

Reynaud's public career began in 1913 as a municipal
councillor at St. Paul, a small town eight miles northeast
of Barcelonnette. In 1914, he ran and lost an election to
the Chamber of Deputies from the Hauteé—Alpes district of
Gap; but in 1919 (after a four ye#r interlude of wartime
service) , he was elected from Basses-Alpes on a rightist
National Bloc list. 1In this postwar chamber, Raynaud joined
an obscure center-right group, l'Action républicaine et
sociale.s

Although defeated in the 1924 Basses-Alpes plebe-
scite and in the 1926 by-~election held in the second

arrondissement of Paris, Reynaud was successfully elected

to that same Parisian district on a National Republican

ticket in 1928. This stockbroker, small shopkeeper quarter

5Invthis study, less well known parties or political
groups whose names do not readily translate into English are
left in French. :



reelected him in both the 1932 and 1936 campaigns allowing
Reynaud to keep the same seat from 1928 untii June of 1940.

Once elected in 1928, Reynaud's talents were quickly
noticed by André Tardieu, a centrist who made Reynaud his
finance minister in 1930.. From March of 1930 to June of
1932, Reynaud served inAsuccession as minister of finance;
colonies, and justice. After the 1932 election, he became
a member of the finance commission of the chamber, a
position which he maintained for the rest of the decade.
His great moment to shine came during 1938-40 when as
Edouard Daladier's finance minister, Raynaud helped 1lift
the nation out of its desperate financial straits.

Chosen premier on March 21, 1940, Reynaud resigned
on June 16, 1940 when a majority of his cabinet opted for an
armistice. From 1940-42, Reynaud remained a prisoner under
Vichy and then for the duration of the war, a Nazi captive
in various concentration camps. Liberated in 1945, he.
married his Secretary, Christiane Mabire, by whom he
fathered three children, the youngest born after Reynaud
passed his eightieth year. After the war, he reentered
politics and was successfully elected to the chamber from
the Departement du Nord (Dunkirk), a seat he held from 1946
until 1962. 1In addition to being appointed minister of
finances in 1948, Reynaud présided over the finance
commission of the National Assembly from 1951 to 1962.

Defeated in 1962 because he opposed the election of the
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Fifth Republic's president by referendum, he died on
September 21, 1966.

Petite, handsome, and impeccably dressed, Reynaud
was in constant demand on the lecture circuit. His facility
with English and Spanish, his reading of the foreign press,
and his travels abroad all joined'to'make him an important
- gource for measuring the state of Europe and the world.

At home, his liaison with\pretty Madame Héleéne de
Portes, the mistress who gradually replaced his wife,
attached Reynaud to a social set years younger than himself.
This milieu also contained well known bankers and financiers
whose ties with Reynaﬁd were interpreted by some as
favoritism toward big business.

An important weak spot in Reynaud's persoﬁality was
his inferiority complex over his height, a factor which he
himself described as a thorn and handicap.6 Referred to as
a midget, Reynaud compensated by developing a superiority
complex which demonstrated itself by a need to surpéss and
excel others.7 As a result, he often came across as
haughty, caustic, affected, and cocksure. His perpetual
smile was considered smug. His manner of walking was a

strut. His clothes, physique, and mannerisms seemed

6Paul Reynaud, Mémoires, vol. 1l: Venu de ma
montagne (Paris: Flammarion, 1960), p. 41.

7Mémoires d'un président [anonymous] (Paris: La
table ronde, 1972), p. 192. Madame Reynaud states her
husband's height as 5'6". Letter of December 20, 1973 from
Madame Reynaud to the writer.




11

bizarre. Vendémiaire (Paris), a rightist weekly, compared

the "wearer of the highest false collars in the chamber" to
a bantam rooster whose nose and face were always arched back
and pointed upward toward the éeiling in order to give
people the impression he was taller than he really was.8
These aspects of Reynaud's life: his personality,
associates, time abroad, and like for Anglo-Saxon ways and
customs set him apart from many of the other deputies whose
experiences and opportunities were of a more limited nature.
Coming ﬁp to Paris for the chamber debates, these poli-
ticians, at the close of the session, returned to their

provincial départements in order to immerse themselves in

local affairs or electoral interests.

Over and above personal biography, it is Reynaud's
ideas on national defense that hold the predominant place.
in this narrative. That they miscarried among the poli-
ticians, the military, and the people at large is a fofegone
conclusion. The reasons why, on the other hand, are the
main focus of the study.r The story begins with Charles de

Gaulle.

8Vendémiaire,, January 3, 1936, p. 2.




CHAPTER I
THE FOUNDATION

Jean Auburtin, a Parisian lawyer, introduced
Reynaud to Charles de Gaulle on December 5, 1934.l Forty-
four years old to Reynaud's fifty-six, de Gaulle was repﬁted
to be the tallest lieutenant-colonel in France. Born at
Lille in 1890, the son of a professor, de Gaulle received
his education at St. Cyr military academy and graduated in
1912 with the grade of second lieutenant. Stationed at
Arras in 1914 when the First World War began, he won a
promotion to captain of infantry in 1915, was wounded and
captured in 1916, escaped from a prisoner of war camp, was
recaptured, and after the war, went to serve.in Poland under
General Maxime'Weygand. |

From 1921-24, he £aught as an assistant professor of
military history at St. Cyr and in 1924, he joined the
general staff at Mayence in the Rhineland. Marshal Philippe
Pétain, then vice-president of the Conseil Supérieur de la
Guerre (CSG), used de Gaulle as an aide-de-camp in his

1925-27 cabinet, during the last year of which de Gaulle was

lAuburtin met de Gaulle for the first time at the
home of Colonel Emile Mayer in the spring of 1934. He. later
brought a copy of de Gaulle's Vers 1l'armée de métier to
Reynaud who after reading it requested to see de Gaulle.
See Jean Auburtin, "A propos de l'armée de métier," Revue
politique et parlementaire, no. 816 (1970), pp. 4-5.

12
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promoted to the rank of major. From 1927-30, he commanded.
the nineteenth infantry division at Triers in the Rhineland
and from 1930-32, he served on the French general staff in
Lebanon. De Gaulle was promoted again in 1933 to the grade
of lieutenant-colonel and was attached to the Secrétariat
Général of the Conseil Supérieur de la Défense Nationale
(CSDN) .

In 1934, de Gaulle presented in his newly published

book, Vers l'armée de métier,2 plans for a major military

reform. Unable to find a receptive audience among his army
superiors, de Gaulle, on the advice of Auburtin, sought a
political voice to present his ideas to the public. This
voice was Paul Reynaud's.

De Gaulle's Vers 1l'armée de métier centered around a

corps of six armored divisions. This motorized army of
shock was to be charactérized by lightening speed and a fire
power capacity double that of the French army of 1914. The
100,000 men needed for this armored corps would be hired by
contract and would serve long term. The basic components
were speed, surprise, maneuver, camouflage, and the elite or
professional soldiers. This specialized army would be a
division of the national conscript army, the latter

continuing to serve as couverture for the frontiers.

2Charles de Gaulle, Vers l'armée de métier (Paris:
Editions Berger-Levrault, 1934).

3

Ibid., pp. 40, 44-45, 54, 56, 115, 1l17.
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The armored corps would be trained to cross the
frontier and take the offensive or counteroffensive which-
ever was needed. This offensive strategy based on
mechanized véhicles consisted of an attack by waves of tanks
grouped together according to weight. The heavy tanks
charged first followed by the medium and then the light
tanks. The infantry would terminate the liquidation and
take possession of the conquered territory. The occupation
was to be carried out not in continuous chains but in
centers of force. Air planes would be used for reconnais-
sance. Finally, the entire operation would be under the
control of intelligent generals among whom a spirit of
enterprise would be fostered by the decentralization of
leadership. A strong man was needed, however, to bring
about the creation of the project.4

‘"The demonstration," wrote Reynaud after listening
to de Gaulle's ideas, "was made with such power and with
'such'clarity that I was won by the mén and by his plan."5
Reynaud, in spite of the fact that he was already under fire
for his support of the franc devalﬁation, decided to embark

on this second undertaking. The groundwork consisted of a

4Ibid., pp. 111-17, 161-67, 202-3, 205. De Gaulle
was not the first Frenchman to expound on an offensive based
on tanks. General Jean Estienne, the "father of the tank,"
gave a series of lectures published in 1920 on the super-
iority of armored, mobile warfare in which the tank played
a predominant role. Estienne reiterated and expanded on
this view throughout the 1920s. ‘

5Reynaud, Mémoires, 1:432.
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series of meetings and letters between the two men that
stretched over a period from 1934 to 1938. No recorded
account has been found of their conferences but de Gaulle
wrote frequently to Réynaud particularly in 1935-36. Out
of these contacts between deputy and lieutenant-colonel grew
a close friendship. To Reynaud, de Gaulle was "my con-
ception of war chief: an intellectual as well as an animal
of combat."6 To de Gaulle, Reynaud was both a patron of
his new ideas as well as a protector against a hostile
military world wedded to outdated strategy and doctrine.

One of de Gaulle's first communications to Reynaud

advised using the armored corps to maintain order within

France. In his note of January 28, 1935,7 de Gaulle

6Paul Reynaud, Mémoires, vol. 2: Envers et contre
tous (Paris: Flammarion, 1963), p. 195. Most of these
meetings between the two men occurred at 5, place du Palais
Bourbon, Reynaud's office and later, his home. There is
some question as to the actual number of letters writcten
before, during and after the war. This writer has found
fifty-nine among Reynaud's Mémoires and the archives, six
having been dated after 1945. Reynaud, however, claims
there were seventy letters. See Reynaud, Mémoires, 1:420.
According to Madame Renée Bazin, the private archivist
assigned to the Reynaud papers, this group of letters had at
one time been stolen from the Reynaud family but later was
recovered. The writer assumes that the other eleven letters
have been lost or are in the possession of Madame Paul
Reynaud.

In his letter of May 10, 1973 to the writer, the son
of General de Gaulle, Rear-~Admiral Philippe de Gaulle stated
that there does not exist any letters written by Paul
Reynaud to his father in the de Gaulle papers deposited at
the National Archives.

7Reynaud Papers, "Lettres de Gaulle," Archives
Nationales de la France, Paris (hereafter cited as AN),
Charles de Gaulle to Paul Reynaud, January 28, 1935. The
Reynaud papers have not yet been classified so referral is
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observed that an elitist group of specialists could best
deal with the tumults and disorders arising from the
rightist street leagues or the newly formed Popular Front
coalition on the left. Notingvthat the National Guard had
the responsibility of maintaining internal order, de Gaulle
ventured to doubt their effectiveness if riots were to
break out simultaneously across France. How could loyalty
be assured if their ranks were made up of men who had
participated in the February 1934 riots or of natives from
French colonies whose devotion to the mother country was
rapidly becoming a thing of the past? Far better to rely
on an elite of pfofeséionals whose trustworthiness was
certain,

Other letters encouraged the armored corps because
of German rearmament. On January 14, 1935,8 de Gaulle wrote
that the Germans now had three armored divisions and that
another three were to be activated in 1936. The personnel
of this specialized corps were an elite and each division
had an aviation unit attached to it.

In July 1936, de Gaulle submitted to. Reynaud sta-

tistics on the German army labeled "not to be cited at the

not by carton or folio but by dossier. The dossier is
indicated by the quotation marks. When shortened references
are repeatedly made to the de Gaulle-Reynaud correspondence,
they always refer back to the last dossier cited. This
continues until a new dossier is used.

8De Gaulle to Reynaud, January 14, 1935.



17
tribune [the speaker's podium of the Chamber of Deputies]."
suggesting that these facts might help Reynaud to develop
his forthcoming speech before the chamber, the figures
showed the Germans possessed more than 2,000 modern tanks
while the French had only 310. De Gaulle also cited
510,000 men as serving in the German army: 350,000
recruits and 160,000 draftees. As of April 1, 1935, these
men forméd twenty-four regular divisions and three panzer
or armored divisions. The evidence also indicated that the
ranks of the panzer divisions were being filled by enlisted
men or recruited soldiers.9

Again on Auguét 26, 1936, de Gaulle warned of the
widening gap between the French and German armies. "In the
game called armaments competition,” wrote the officér,
"there are two aspects: mass [men] and quality." De Gaulle
ruefully observed that "We loose on the first for not being
able to win it and on the second, for not wanting it."10

De Gaulle was quick to defend the feasibility of the
armored corps in te;ms of sﬁpplying the 98,000 soldiers
needed. In his May 8, 1935 correspondence,ll the officer

noted that the war budget allowed for 84,012 career soldiers

to outfit the 1935 army but 116,000 professionals were

9Reynaud, Mémoires, 2:484-85. The French had
400,000 men under arms in 1936. See General Maurice Gamelin,
Servir, 3 vols. (Paris: Plon, 1946-47), 2:208.

10De Gaulle to Reynaud, August 26, 1936.

llDe Gaulle to Reynaud, May 8, 1935.
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currently serving. Following from this, de Gaulle felt that

the 98,000 could be supplied as based on the data in

Table 1, page 18.

His figures, however, were questionable as to their

numbers and reliability. Who could say that the 15,000

youths then serving would stay and join the armored corps?

TABLE 1

SOURCE OF SOLDIERS FOR DE GAULLE'S ARMORED

CORPS

Difference between the 84,012 professionals needed
for 1935 and the 116,000 men then serving . . . . .

Youths now serving their tour of duty but who
would soon be professionals . . . . .« . « « « .. o

Career men or specialists to be transferred from
the reqular army along with their units or
portions of their units . . . . . . . « « + ¢« ¢« « &
National Guardsmen . . ¢ ¢ &+ ¢ & 4 ¢ « o o « o « o«
South African natives currently serving in France . .

Unexplained . . . ¢ ¢ « 4« o o o o o « o o o = o o« «

Total .« & ¢ ¢ ¢« ¢ o ¢ ¢ e o o o o o« s o o o

. . . 32,000

« « o 15,000

.« .o . 7,000
. « .« 15,000
. . . 18,000
. » - 11,000

. . . "98,000

SOURCE: "Lettres de Gaulle," AN, de Gaulle to
May 8, 1935. .

Reynaud,

aThe actual figure is 31,988. De Gaulle apparently

rounded off the number to 32,000.

b X s s .
A line is missing from the letter that explains the

11,000.

Moreover, the manner in which the 7,000 men transfer would

be made from the regular army without depleting its ranks
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was not clear. Also, the heavy reliance on National
Guardsmen and native troops raised the issue of loyalty
(de Gaulle, himself, had brought out this point in his
letter of January 28, 1935) particularly at a time of
internal disorder and colonial unrest.

Other letters spent less time with figures. "We
need," wrote de Gaulle on October 15, 1937, "an instrument

."12 The heart of

capable of striking without delay. . .
this instrument was to be the modern tank which was for

de Gaulle, an invention of great importance. Its appearance
was an evolution in the form and art of war. All tactics,
all strategy, and all other armaments depended on it. The
conclusion was always the same: a concert of tanks in large
armored units accompanied by infantry, artillery, signals
officers and other specialists.

The letters did not merely give Reynaud the reasons
why the armored corps should exist. They also assisted
Reynaud with direct help in advancing the cause before the
pitblic. This aid ranged from constructing Reynaud's parlia-

mentary proposals to'suggesting material for his 1937 book,

Le Probléme militaire francais, or to the writing up for

Reynaud's referral, a plan for the organization of a

ministry of national defense.

12De-Gaulle to Reynaud, October 15, 1937.
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De Gaulle continually informed Reynaud of appro-
priate moments to broach defense questions to the chamber.
His letter of May 24, 1935 observed that the recent nego-
tiations on the Franco-Soviet Alliance, the approaching
Danubian Pact, and the latest speech of Hitler (Germany's
plans for Central and East Europe), "bring to your plan of
military reorganization some arguments of decisive
importance."13

On June 25, 1936, de Gaulle simply wrote: "“Doesn't
it seem to you that the time has come to maximize the

14 On other occasions,

importance of the army question?"
de Gaulle would go into detail and highlight for Reynaud
what should constitute the essence of his.next parliamentary
intervention. In his November 25, 1936 letter, he stressed
that in speaking on foreign policy, Reynaud should emphasize
the narrow relationship between "security, international
solidarity and military policy.".15

Sometimes de Gaulle helped Reynaud focus on the

current sway of ideas in the chamber. On January 30,

» 13De Gaulle to Reynaud, May 24, 1935. The Franco-
Soviet Pact stipulated that one nation would come to the aid
of the other if the latter were attacked by any European
power. The Danubian Pact, if it had developed, would have
included Austria, Germany, Italy, Czechoslovakia, Hungary
and Yugoslavia. These countries would have refrained from
interfering in the domestic policies of their fellow members.
France, Poland, and Rumania were to be eligible for mem-
bership upon request.

14Reynaud, Mémoires, 2:76.

151pid., p. 137.
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1937,16’he'noted that everyone agreed that French defense
forces must have their quality improved both in matériel and
in personnel. He also noted that an evolution of thought
among orators’was evident because the deputies were
stressing the most powerful and specialized part of France's
forces: aviation, mechanized corps, fortifications, and the
navy.

De Gaulle kept Reynaud informed on party strategy
which included the general outlines of planned political
speeches particularly those given by leftist deputies. On
March 14, 1935,17Ahe advised Reynaud of the Radical party's

planned ordre du jour. Scheduled for the following day,

this motion, to be moved by a Radical deputy at the end of
his speech, would indicate that his party felt the military
problem could not be solved by a simple increase in the tour
of duty--a move intended by the Flandin ministry for the
following day.

At other times, Reynaud's advisor on military
affairs would focus on men favorable to their ideas such as
Joseph Paul-Boncour, an IndependentASocialist, senator, and
occasional minister. This also included Philippe Serre, a

menmber of the Left Independents.18 Whatever or whoever, for

161pid., p. 143.

l7De Gaulle to Reynaud, March 14, 1935.

18Reynaud, Mémoires, 2:136, 143.
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de Gaulle, the political milieu offered more hope for change
than didrmilitary'circlés. "It would be inconceivable,"
wrote de Gaulle, "if the public powers did not take the
initiative and at the same time their responsibilities for
such a profound transformation of the nation's military
instrument."19

De Gaulle himself mixed with the politicians. On
September 23, 1936, he described his visit to the Radical,
Camille Chautemps. The latter began by asking de Gaulle to
keep the meeting a secret because he did not like Edouard
Daladier, war minister and chief of the Radical party. The
army officer thereupon explained to Chautemps the military
problem and the solution. De Gaulle latér reported to
Reynaud that Chautemps appeared favorably disposed toward
the armored corps not only as a means of intervention beyond
the frontier but also as a method of maintaining internal
order both in France and North Africa.20 |

A great deal of hope was placed 'in Daladier. At the
moment of approvél of a fourteen billion armaments expen-

- ditures program in the fall of 1936, Daladier had uttered no

words of opposition. This was interpreted by de Gaulle as a

22

sign of progress.21 Later, on January 30, 1937, de Gaulle

19De Gaulle to Reynaud, March 29, 1935,

20h, Gaulle to Reynaud, September 23, 1936.

21Reynaud, Mémoires, 2:132.

22
Ibid., p. 143.
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informed Reynaud that Daladier might make an important
declaration as a sequel to Philippe Serre's excellent speech
supporting the armored corps. (The only declaration
paladier was fo make, however, was to be his support of the

Maginot Line, couverture, and fire power.23)

By the following year, de Gaulle's hopes were
completely crushed. On February 14, 1938, he wrote:

I fear that MM Daladier and [Minister of Air]
Guy La Chambre who at the tribune summarily
condemned your project of an elite armored corps
and the ideas of the "young school," might
neither have read Vers l'armée de métier, nor the
article of Guderian and [they] know the question
only through clouds with which they deliberately
surround themselves.

The letters also provided Reynaud with an open
window to the military world. On Januaryll4, 1935,25
de Gaulle observed that the incomprehension of some and the
routine of others prevented them from seeing the truth. Two

months later, he noted that "The technicians are too

occupied by their current duties . . . too divided by their

23Assemblée nationale, Journal officiel de 1la
république francaise 1870-1940, Chambres des députés 1876-
1940, Débats parlementaires, 1933-39 (hereafter cited as
JOC) , February 2, 1937, p. 292.

: 24De Gaulle to Reynaud, February 14, 1938. De Gaulle
is referring to a 1936 article by General Heinz Guderian
written in Militar Wochenblatt. The article urged the
development of panzer divisions.

25

De Gaulle to Reynaud, January 14, 1935,
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theories, their activities . . . to undertake and pursue
efficiently a reform. . . .“26

Occasionally his dissatisfaction became more

4
pointed. His letter of May 8, l9352‘ contained a response

from General Louis-Antoine Colson, director of publications

for the Revue militaire frangaise and member of the CSG.
Colson emphatically denied de Gaulle the right to publish
an article entitled: "How to Construct a Professional
Army." According to Colson, it would be impossible to
include the essay because it put the military forces of

France into two categories: the armée de métier or profes-

sional army and the national army composed of volunteers
serving their normal tour of duty. This was contrary to the
current views of the war ministry which sponsored the
journal.

In spite of this discouraging atmosphere, de Gaulle
worked to find an audience for their ideas. 1In his letter
to Reynaud of March 29, 1935,28 he submitted a list of

military personnel who seemed open to their ideas and who

because of this, would receive from de Gaulle, a copy of

26De Gaulle to Reynaud, March 29, 1935.

27De Gaulle to Reynaud, May 8, 1935 and Reynaud,
Mémoires, 1:507.

28De Gaulle to Reynaud, March 29, 1935. The list of
military personnel originally affixed to the letter is
missing. The majority of notes that de Gaulle attached to
his letters have been separated from the original corres-
pondence. Some are in Reynaud's private papers and the
rest appear to have been lost.
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Reynaud's March 1935 chamber speech on the armored corps.

one of these sympathizers was General Jean Flavigny,

commander of France's only division légére mécanique (DLM)
or lightly mechanized division--a unit composed of light
tanks and armored cars and designed essentially for
reconnaissance.

In a letter of April 24, 1936 to Reynaud,29

Flavigny
concurred that the armored corps was "absolutely indis-
pensable." De Gaulle was elated with Flavigny's reaction
and wrote to Reynaud that the General's objection to using
only professionals could be skirted by putting the latter
in the fighting ranks and the draftees in the maintenance
crews. To de Gaulle, the fact that nearly 50 per cent of
Flavigny's DLM troops were already professionals indicated
a future trend in that direction.30

More support for the armored corps came from
General Pierre Hering who like Colson was a member of CSG.
Dé Gaulle on May 20; 1937, praised Hering for his "indépen-
dEn%g of spirit," but stated that "We must be near victory
in order to make the Council (CSG) confess its faith."31

De Gaulle used the correspondence to give Reynaud

detailed information on proposed military expenditures: how

29Reynaud Papers, "Dossier Militaire 1936-38," AN,

de Gaulle to Reynaud, April 24, 1936.
30"Lettres de Gaulle," de Gaulle to Reynaud, July 1,
1936. '

31De Gaulle to Reynaud, May 20, 1937.
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they were planned to improve the defense network and how
the armored corps would dr would not fit intb the budget.
The September’23, 1936 note32 informed Reynaud of the
fourteen billions to be spent between 1936 and 1940. This
accelerated rearmament effort called for the construction
of tanks, mechanization of units, and increase in the
number of recruited soldiers. Yet according to de Gaulle,
the program, because of its mode and manner of execution,
was powerless to build something great.

It called for the creation of three DLMs and two
tank divisions. The former while able to explore were not
strong enough to produce rupture and exploitation. The tank
divisions on the other hand lacked the basic infantry,
artillery, and specialized crew which could permit them to
act independently. De Gaulle's sad conclusion was that the
poorly devised plén was unintentional "homage to our
conceptions,” but lacked the breadth to bring the armdred
corps into exisfence,33A | |

Other letters of de Gaulle fluctuated between
pessimism and optimism. On August 26, 1936, faced with the
knowleage of German armaments escalation, de Gaulle noted
that: |

It is very easy to forsee what will be the
reaction of the humorous sexagenarians who comprise

32De Gaulle to Reynaud, September 23, 1936.

331pi4.
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the CSG. They are going to ask you for a com-
pulsory three year tour of duty. When they have
it, they will notice that we are still short of
the mark.34 '
De Gaulle showed renewed hope on October 15, 1937.
Excited about his recent appointment as commander of the
507th tank regiment at Metz, he assured Reynaud that the
idea of an armored corps had made immense progress in the
ranks of the army officers.35 This hope, however, faded on
February 14, 1938 when the newly promoted de Gaulle lamented
the "stubborn conformism that bars all roads to reform."36'
Riding the seesaw of military opinion, de Gaulle was up with
it one minute and down with it the next.
De Gaulle repeatedly informed Reynaud of important
press articles: On April 2, 1936, he recommended that

Reynaud read General X's article on the professional army as

written in Mercure de France. De Gaulle labeled its R

negative attitude toward the new concept as typical of the

official doctrine of the moment, "bereft of thought and

will."37

34De'Gaulle‘to Reynaud, August 26, 1936. -

35De Gaulle to Reynaud, October 15, 1937.

36De Gaulle to Reynaud, February 14, 1938.

37"Dossier Militaire 1936-38," de Gaulle to Reynaud,
April 2, 1936. On General X, see his article in "L'Armée de
métier," Mercure de France, April 1, 1936, pp. 9, 14-17.
Also, see references to him in Chapter Four.
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On January 12, 1938,38 he sent Reynaud a recent

article written by Commander Tony Albbrd in Revue de l'armée
de 1l'air. Albord, General Héring's assistant, envisaged a
vast modernization of the military machine by a concen-
tration of the different instruments of war. De Gaulle was
so impressed by these ideas that he suggested Reynaud
contact Albord.

De Gaulle also discussed an important a;ticle from
the German military press. 1In early 1938} he sent Reynaud

a translation of a 1936 study in Militar Wochenblatt. The

essay, written by General Heinz Guderian, discussed the
development of the panzer divisions. Bluntly, de Gaulle
noted that the Germans had pursued its development and the
French had not.39

Reynaud received comments from his military advisor
on relevant articles in the political press. These included
two 1936 editorials in the moderate Le Temps (Paris) which
were favorable to the armored corps as well as a series
authored by Raymond Patenotre in the leftist Le Petit
Journal (Paris) entitled: "Are we defended?" Once again,

de Gaulle raised a glimmer of hope. The articles in Le

Temps suggested that their ideas were taking hold while

38"Lettres de Gaulle," de Gaulle to Reynaud,
January 12, 1938.

39De Gaulle to Reynaud, February 14, 1938.
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patenotre of Le Petit Journal could prove a powerful ally.
v v . , ‘0 _

Would Reynaud go and see him?

In the realm of foreign affairs, de Gaulle called
attention tokthe Gefman reoccupation of the Rhineland on
March 7, 1936. In his letter of July 22, 1936,°% the
officer weighed the damage this did to their ally, Belgium,
who had had a magnificent occasion to watch the total
paralysis of France. Giving Reynaud classified information,
de Gaulle stated that in case of war with the Germans, the
joint Belgian defense commission was "resolutely opposed"
to fighting at Liége while waiting for the French. Thus in
opposition to Defense Minister Deveéze, the Franco-Belgian
Accord of 1931, and the Locarno Treaty, the majority of the
commission preferred to fall back to Anvers rather than
defend the eastern frontier from which they could stall the
Germans while the French moved up into Belgium.

Later, de Gaulle wrote that "One can no longef
clearly tie the idea of Belgian resistance to the immediate

42

and powerful cooperation of France." The reason for this

was the lack of a French armored corps to counter the -

40Reynaud, Mémoires, 2:132. De Gaulle was on good
terms with Edouard Delage, editorialist for Le Temps and
favorably disposed toward the armored corps. In 1937,
de Gaulle advised Reynaud to address a copy of the latter's
newly published Le Probléme militaire frangaise to Delage.
See de Gaulle to Reynaud May 21, 1937.

41

Reynaud, Mémoires, 2:80-81.

42De Gaulle to Reynaud, October 9, 1936.
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lightning warfare tactics of German panzer divisions. De
Gaulle concluded that France had vis A‘Vis-Gérmany~two
geographic areas over which she must "eternally" exercise
control: the left bank of the Rhine and the Low Countries.
Hitler now had the first and would soon have the second if
France did not come out of its military policy of
passivity.43 Five days after de Gaulle wrote this second
letter, the Belgians declared themselves neutral on
October 14, 1936.

To stem this growing loss of allies and subsequent
isolation, de Gaulle advised Reynaud that France's remaining
friends should create solidarity by means of military inter-
dependence. This should extend not just from chief or staff
to chief of staff but from government to government. It
would ultimately evolve into an "entente of democracies"”
based on armaments.

In assessing de Gaulle's impact on Reynaud in
foreign affairs, it is evident that he was of less help here
than in other areas. For one thing, a considerable amount
of time was spent bemoaning past errors as in the case of
Belgium. More important, precious little time was spent
detailing how the armored corps would come to.the assistance
of allies especially in the case of Belgium. Generalizations

about collective security were insufficient support for

431pi4.

44De Gaulle to Reynaud, January 12, 1938.
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convincing the French about the need for an armored corps

capable of taking the offensive beyond the frontier. Later,

this weakness would serve to hamper Reynaud whose own vague
references to the specialized corps traveling to the aid of
allies both near and distant raised numerous objections and
adverse reaction.

In other respects, de Gaulle served Reynaud as a
ghostwriter. In the fall of 1937, he sent his parlia-
mentary friend a speech intended to represent Reynaud's
participation in the November congress of the Democratic
Alliance, an electoral organization to which deputies from
the center adhered. The discourse centered around: 1) the
contradiction between the nation's military and foreign
policy; 2) the inadequacy of the "nation in arms" principle,
a theory that at the moment of danger, the people would rise
up to protect the motherland; 3) the need for a ceﬁtral

control over the branches of the armed forces or la direction

militaire unique; and 4) a plan for the organization of the

. . . 45
nation in time of war.

Loaded with information and supported by the his-
torical past, de Gaulle's speech stressed the importance of
the motor, the tank, and the enormous burden of armament

expenditures. These last three made for an enormous

45De Gaulle to Reynaud, n.d. [?November 1937]. The
principle of the "nation in arms" went back to the levée en .
masse of 1793. 1In spite of this elaborately prepared speech,
Reynaud was not given the opportunity to speak on defense
matters at the Congress.
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difference between the nature of the First World War and
that ¢f the anticipated conflict. De Gaulle also emphasized
that while Russia, Italy, and Germany had almost achieved
unified command, France decentralized its own defense among
war, navy, air, and colonies. Would the only way that
France would unite be, de Gaulle asked, "under the bombs?"

A short time later, the French officer wrote another
discourse that underwent extensive corrections by Reynaud.
This time the perilous international situation of 1937 was
cited. Hitler demanded colonies on November 20; Joseph
Goebbels, the Nazi propaganda minister, threatened war on
December 10. The Japanese occupied Shanghai and Peiking on
December 11; Mussolini left the League of Nations on |
December 12. Faced with these facts, France had to insure
safety by her own means. To de Gaulle, the avenue to this
security lay in military reform and, as he had written
before, the impetus for this had to come from the politicians

not from the military technicians.46

kkhkkkkkkkkk

Aside from.héving'cited specific aspects of defense
problems, the letters yielded valuable insight into de
Gaulle's motivations. 1In this respect, the correspondence
struck a delicate balance between love for France and
personal ambition--Reynaud figuring prominently in both

areas. This love for France reached on occasion the

46De Gaulle to Reynaud, n.d. [?December 1937].
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deification level. .De Gaulle talked of France's "eternal
national instinct." He stressed the need to restore France
to her "rightful place in the sun." France was for de
Gaulle someone alive and vital, a being with a soul. Such

was the theme of his 1938 book, La France et son armée,

which de Gaulle described as "a thousand years of history
of our militant, suffering, and triumphant nation."47
Within this loyalty, this passionate love for the
homeland, there resided a sense of de Gaulle's personal
mission, a sense of his own destiny, a search for a role to
play in the nation's history. 1In this regard, de Gaulle was
quick to inform Reynaud of events that might hold back this

48

destiny. On May 10, 1935, he wrote that his forthcoming

book, La France et son armée, was about to be published

without the collaboration of Marshal Philippe Pétain. The
Marshal, hero of World War I and an important military
personality in the interwar period, was infuriated that the
project, originally begun in the 1920s under his auspices,
was now being independently authored by one of his former

staff officers.

47Reynaud Papers, "La France Démission 1938," AN, de
Gaulle to Reynaud, September 24, 1938 ‘and "Lettres de
Gaulle," de Gaulle to Reynaud, November 24, 1938 and
September 24, 1938. La France et son armée (Paris: Berger-
Levrault, 1938).

48"Lettres de Gaulle," de Gaulle to Reynaud, May 10,
1935 and "The Pétain Letters," Newsweek, February 7, 1972,
p. 35.
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- A more serious incident occurred in DecemberAl936.
De Gaulle informed Reynaud that his career had been ruined
because he had been removed from the promotion list.
Reynaud immediately contacted Minister of War Daladier who
in turn explained that de Gaulle had spent too much time in
prison during World War I and, therefore, had not been
sufficiently decorated. When Reynaud faced de Gaulle with
this, the latter submitted a list of his numerous citations.
De Gaulle further hinted that perhaps Daladier was not well
acquainted with his dossier and might have been wrongly
informed by those who "listened to their theological
passions rather than to strict equity."49.

De Gaulle pointed out that since 1933, the moment of
his promotion to the grade of lieutenant-colonel, neither
his fellow officers nor he had had to wage war. In light
of this, he could not understand how others were being
preferred to him. De Gaulle, alluding to the conformism
and rigidity of the high command since 1933, noted that
"Some people would find it very suitable to stifle ideas by
strangling the protagonist." He concluded that the whole
affair was of small import; it was only significant to the
extent it constituted "an episode in the great battle for

military renovation."50 Reynaud, confronted with this,

49 peynaud, Mémoires, 1:439-40 and de Gaulle to
Reynaud, December 12, 1936.

50De Gaulle to Reynaud, December 12, 1936.
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again sought Daladier who upon reexamination of de Gaulle's
dossier had the lieutenant-colonel reinstated on the
promotion list. "My devotion to you," responded de Gaulle,
"finds new justification."51

Thus surfaced another weakness in the foundation:
Reynaud had hitched his cart to a man with a grudge, a man
who wished to pursue his own success on a course separate
from that of the rest of the army. Inevitably de Gaulle's
prejudice toward and dislike for the high command were
communicated to Reynaud whose later references to its
inadequacies served only to raise the enmity of several key
members of the general staff. Aware that_Reynaud was the
front for a renegade officer bent on personal advancement
through the political arena, these officers were predisposed
to frown on the de Gaulle-Reynaud plan, a predisposition
that made it easier to concentrate on negative and weak
points rather than on the fact that the armored corps
represented an important change in military strategy since
the days of World War I.

Other letters of de Gaulle reiterated the devotion
to Reynaud that followed the former's reinstatement on the
promotion list, a devotion that showed itself as a desire
to serve. ". . . [I am] at your complete service up to the

last minute before the debate," wrote de Gaulle on March 14,

51De Gaulle to Reynaud, December 18';1936‘
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1935. "From the 17th to the 30th of November [1936],"

penned the officer, "I will have some free time that I beg

you to use as you please." During October of 1937, he
wrote to Reynaud that "I stay resolved to serve you on any
occasion that you give me."52

Hand in hand with this fealty went the automatic
assumption that Reynaud would use de Gaulle in his future
war ministry. In that event, de Gaulle was Reynaud's man.
"My regiment," he wrote during the Munich crisis, "is ready.
Let me tell you that in any case I will be--barring my death
--resolved to serve you." The army officer came to believe,
in fact, that their mutual destinies were interwoven by
fate. "All the signs show,"” wrote de Gaulle, "that our
hour is approaching."53

Opposite ambition on the coin was the officer's
vision of Reynaud's future, and in this respect, the genius
of de Gaulle lay in intermingling the deputy's destiny with
the future glory of France. Nowhere in fact is the sense of
grandeur and destiny more present than in de Gaulle's
prediction of Reynaud's future role. 1In a series of
letters from March 1935 to November 1938, de Gaulle foresaw

the realization of military reform in a government led by

Paul Reynaud.

520e Gaulle to Reynaud, March 14, 1935 and October 15,
1937. Reynaud, Mémoires, 2:132.

'53De Gaulle to Reynaud, May 31, 1935, September 23,
1936, and September 24, 1938.
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Reynaud was the "great force of the future." His
name was to be attached tc the great national task of
reform. It was Reynaud who, fomorrow, would regroup
national forces to bring change. The country would turn to
him and beg him to direct it. Reynaud would win the battle
for military renovation. "France, in fact," wrote de
Gaulle, "will not call Paul Reynaud to hold a function,
make a transition, [or] to wait and see'but indeed for some
great and momentous actions." De Gaulle reinforced this
idea in one of his last prewar letters. "I am convinced,"
he wrote, "of your success. Your destiny as a statesman
is to put France back in its place in every respect."54

To do so,‘hOWever, Reynaud needed more than just
high sounding words. One essential for such an undertaking
was support which in itself begged the question as to why
Reynaud and de Gaulle were not aided by a group, by a
militant organization sincerely interested in the armored
corps?

Several accounts of de Gaulle's struggle to promote
his project mentioned a group of advisors who worked with

55

him. These helpers included Lieutenant-Colonel Emile

54De Gaulle to Reynaud, March 29, 1935, May 31, 1935,
December 14, 1936, and November 24, 1938. Reynaud,
Mémoires, 2:84 and Reynaud Papers, "La France Démission
1938," AN, de Gaulle to Reynaud, December 14, 1936.

55Jean Lacouture, De Gaulle, trans. Francis K. Price
(New York: The New American Library, 1965), pp. 47-52;
Stanley Clark, The Man who is France (New York: Dodd, Mead
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Mayer, a retired officer in his eighties who knew many people
in military-political circles and who met océasionally with
de Gaulle at the Brasserie Dumesnil where the two discussed
military history and strategy among mutual friends. In this
coterie were Colonel Lucien Nachin, a talented author and
intimate of de Gaulle's, Jean Auburtin, a lawyer and an
admirer of the lieutenant-colonel, Berger-Levrault, the
editor, and Rémy Roure, writer for Le Temps. Also favorably
disposed toward de Gaulle was General André Doumenc who in
1928 had submitted a plan for modernized armored divisions
to the general staff.

Among the politicians who sympathized with de Gaulle
were Leo Lagrange, Socialist and future minister of leisure
during the Popular Front, Marcel Déat, a Socialist who
defected in 1933 to form the Parti Socialiste de France,
Philippe Serre, a member of a left wing Catholic group,
Jeune République, Raymond Patenotre, onetime editor of

Le Petit Journal as well as a member of the leftist group,

Union Socijialiste et Républicaine, and Jean Le Cour
Grandmaison, a member of the right wing Republican
Federation.

Aside from Roure and Delage of Le Temps, journalists
who supported de Gaﬁile included André Pironneau of the

center-right L'Echo de Paris (later L'Epoque), Emile Buré

& Company, 1963), pp. 76-82; and Brian Crozier, De Gaulle
(New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1973), pp. 61-76.
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of the rightist daily, L'Ordre (Paris) and Daniel Halévy of

Revue des Deux Mondes.56

Jean Lacouture has stated that de Gaulle mobilized

57 this

these men into a "politico-military guerilla war."
was something of an exaggeration. The truth was that the
armored corps was a "conception of the mind,“58 the men
interested in it being too looseknit and too poorly
organized to further its advancement effectively.59 More-~
over, none of these men were from the commanding circles of

the general staff or of the 'government. They lacked

influence.60 L.e Cour Grandmaison and Serre, for example,

56John Marcus in his French Socialism in the Crisis
Years 1933-36 (New York: Praeger, 1958), pp. 111-12 men-
tioned Marcel Bedouz and Pierre Hexa as two Socialists who
as writers on military topics in Le Populaire (Paris) were
favorably disposed toward de Gaulle's ideas. Their names,
however, appeared neither in his correspondence nor in
Reynaud's Mémoires.

57

Lacouture, De Gaulle, p. 70.

58As described by Jean Auburtin in a personal inter-
view with the author at Paris, April 18, 1973.

59Clark called the armored corps project a "time to
time" affair in which these men gave de Gaulle their
interest and support. See his The Man who is France,
pp. 81-82. 1In this group, Clark included General Baratier
and General Maurice Duval, Pierre Bourget and Charles Giron.
Little is known of any of these men. Baratier and Duval
wrote occasional articles on military subjects.

In addition to these men, Auburtin claims to have
arranged interviews between de Gaulle and Joseph Paul-
Concour as well as Alexandre Millerand, both independent
socialists. See Auburtin's Le Colonel de Gaulle (Paris:
Plon, 1965), p. 15. -

60Personal interview with Joseph Laniel, Paris,
France, May 11, 1973. ‘
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who were later to speak on behalf on de Gaulle's ideas were
nonentities when it came to wielding political power.

Another weak spot in the foundation was de Gaulle's
emphasis on feform coﬁing from the civilian government. To
some extent, this attitude must have been developed from the
army officer's personal failures to get on in the military
world. It was in fact the end result of de Gaulle's error
to underestimate the still very influential role the
military played in matters of defense. To attempt an
usurpation of this role by collaboration with a politician
was to invite a resistance; but on this point of civilian
control, Reynaud acquiesced with de Gaulle.

Reynaud, in various Chamber of Deputy speeches,
pointed out that the two basic military reforms in recent
French history were conducted by civilians: Michel le
Tellier Marquis de Louvois who by gradually introducing
officers and soldiers directly responsible to royal
authority, created for Louis XIV the first true standing
army, and Lazare Carnot who in 1793 unified the revolu-
tionary army by drawing together the officers of the old

regime and the conscripts of the new Republic (known as the

amalgame).61

®l30c, March 15, 1935, p. 1041 and January 26, 1937,
p. 171, Auburtin, in an interview with this writer, also
mentioned the introduction of compulsory military service
in 1872 by Adolf Thiers.



A final point of note in the de Gaulle corres-

pondence was the praise and flattery bestowed on the poli-

tician by the army officer. Reynaud was referred to as a
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man of authority, a man of the future, a man well qualified.

His chamber speeches were magnificent, decisive, and

masterly. He spoke with the "great voice of a statesman
at a moment and in a way that would be noted by History."

To find such another man, it was necessary to go back to

Jean Jaurés, a pre-World War I Socialist possessed of great

oratorical power and personal magnetism.6

Was this manipulation on de Gaulle's part? Most
likely not. De Gaulle was in desperate need for a hero.
Disenchanted with the military chiefs, he imagined he saw
in Reynaud the man who could implement his armored corps.
One letter produced in its entirety tends to affirm the

idea that Reynaud for de Gaulle was a saviour of sorts:

Not having been able to listen to you, I had
to content myself with reading and rereading in
the Officiel [Journal Officiel] your magnificent
speech. '

To the extend that: national defense is able
to excite a French Parliament, when the issue does

not raise an electoral interest (length of military

service) or a political maneuver {(condemnation of
a government), you have known how to leave your
imprint on the minds [of the deputies]. But more-

over and especially, you have,--the first one in a
long time--developed the issue to its essence, and
on this subject [youl have made [the people] listen

62

"Lettres de Gaulle," de Gaulle to Reynaud, March 14,

1935, May 31, 1935, and May 14, 1937 and Reynaud, Mémoires,
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to the great voice of a statesman at a moment
and in a manner that will be marked by History.
While waiting, everyone talks of it. . . .

"As to the solutions of which you are the
representative: modernization of the army,
specialized and mechanized corps, united
command, there is not a shadow of a doubt that
they are each day making more headway *than the
day before. . . .63

63De Gaulle to Reynaud, January 28, 1937 in Reynaud,
Mémoires, 2:142.



CHAPTER 1II
REYNAUD'S POSITION

The law of Europe today is the law of force.
Paul Reynaud, Le Probleme
militaire francais, p. 1iii.

"The French problem from the military point of
view," stated Reynaud in the Chamber of Deputies, "is to
create a specialized corps equally fast in both attack and
counter attack, because if the attacked does not have
counter strokes as rapid as the assaillant's, everything is

lost."l

The solution was the armored corps as Reynaud
presented it to the chamber army commission on June 5,
1935. Written up in the form of an amendment to the Two
Year Law, a measure allowing the government to prolong the
length of military service beyond a year, Reynaud's proposal
envisaged six armored divisions (see fig. 1, p. 44) and one
light division (DLM) along with general reserves and
services.

Based on the premise that the national army would
not be able to guarantee the integrity of French territory
at the beginﬁing of a conflict, this armored corps which

was capable of maneuver and the offensive would be added to

the national army's couverture and Maginot Line defenses.

i
ljoc, March 15, 1935, p. 1041.
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The armored corps would be implemented gradually over a

period from 1935 to 1940 and the cost would be 300,000,000

Battalions &~ Brigades - Regiments
1 engineer 1 armored (500 tanks) 1 reconnaissance
2 regiments of heavy tanks and infantry
tanks carried in light
vehicles

1 regiment of medium
tanks

1 battalion of light

3
't‘.
4

tanks
v
1 camouflage -1 infantry
2 regiments on foot
1 battalion of scouts
Y

1l signals 1l artillerz

3 regiments:
heavy field guns (short range)
light field guns (long range)

anti~aircraft guns

Fig. 1. Diagram of an armored corps division.

SOURCES: Paul Reynaud, Le Probléme militaire francais (Paris:
Flammarion, 1937), p. 60; Stanley Clark, The Man Who is France (New
York: Dodd, Mead & Company, 1963), pp. 80-8l; Fernand Schneider,
Histoire des doctrines militaires (Paris: Presses Universitaires, 1957),
p. 90.

NOTE: By contrast, a lightly mechanized division or DIM was
composed mostly of light tanks and armored cars and was designed
essentially for reconnaissance, the role formerly taken by the horse

cavalry. %



. 45
francs ($7,800,000). Finally, it would be thé means of
relating army strategy to foreign policy. Thiough its speed,
mobility, and striking power, it would be the instrument to
guarantee mutual assistance pacts.2

Taking into consideration that the next war would be
short, that movement would be lightning quick due to the
technical revolution in the art of war and that France
lacked strength in numbers, the card to play was the armored
corps or the card of quality.3 While Reynaud in the chamber
and in his amendment did not go heavily into the details of
armored corps strategy, he did so in his 1937 publication,

Le Probleéme militaire frangais, a 1937 compilation of all

his ideas on national defense.
The most important weapons were the tanks. By

moving rapidly in dense, concentrated waves and by maneuv-

ering under fire, they would catch the enemy off guard,
break his line and disrupt his defenses. Crucial cover for
these metal monsters would be supplied by the artillery.

The infantry, carried in fast moving vehicles capable of

2JOC, Amendement au_ﬁ%gjet de loi portant modifi-
cation 3 la loi du 31 mars 1928 sur le recrutement de
l'armée, contre projet de Paul Reynaud, N©9 (Paris:
Imprimerie de la Chambre des députés, March 28, 1935),

pp. 1-11 and JOC, 1l5iéme législature, Commission de 1'Armée,
Procés-Verbaux [sur 1'] Amendement [de M. Paul Reynaud] au
projet de loi de recrutement, Archives de 1'Assemblée
Nationale (hereafter cited as AAN), June 5, 1935, p. 3.

330c, March 15, 1935, p. 1041 and January 26, 1937,
p. 168. According to Reynaud, Germany could mobilize
800,000 men to France's 434,000.
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operating in all types of terrain, would conduct mop up
operatidns and occupation of the territory. Other support
would come from engineers, camouflage, signals, and
reconnaisséncé units. The entire division would be
mechanized or enclosed in armored vehicles ready to do

combat.4

Aviation was the weak spot. Reynaud failed to see
planes as a form of artillery which could not only provide
cover for the tanks but also a path for them by silencing
the opposition. In his 1935 chamber speech, it was true
that Reynaud noted the disharmony between French aviation
with its spirit for the offensive as contrasted to the
defensive nature of the French army;5 yet he never allowed
planes to share the burden of a;tack. His air force was
designed to inform, to fight independently, and to destroy.
Planes as destroyers, however, were not tied closely to the
movement of armored columns. Bombers were primarily
designed to hit airports, fuel depots, ships, and commun-

. . 6
ication centers.

4Paul Reynaud, Le Probléme militaire francais
(Paris: Flammarion, 1937), p. 47. il

5

JOC, March 15, 1935, p. 1041. g

6JOC, January 26, 1937, p. 169. In his La France a
sauvé 1l'Europe, 2 vols. (Paris: Flammarion, 1947), 1:445,
Reynaud admits this oversight when he states: ". . . [we]
did not understand that the new factor in modern war would
be the coupling of armored corps and dive bombers both
protected by fighters."
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To develop a rationale for the existence of an
armored corps of professionals, Reynaud went beyond the

point of simply naming its strategic advantages. He sought

to enhance it by developing effective slogans or by citing

§ examples of where its use proved or could have proven

effective. Thus the centrist deputy created with de Gaulle's

approval, the expression, fer de lance or iron head of the

spear.7 The armored corps was to be, in fact, the iron head
of the national army which it would precede in the business
of piercing enemy lines. It was not a separate army as some
had charged but, to the contrary, an integral part. Further,
it was a preventative weapon which Reynaud described in

Jeunesse, quelle France veux-tu? as the best means to

preserve dem.ocracy.8 The armored corps stood ready to
protect the Republic and its interests.

Among these interests were the pacts and treaties
France has signed since World War I. Thus when Hitler
reoccupied the Rhineland on March 7, 1936--in violation of
the Locarno Treaty--France could not respond rapidly because

of its costly and dramatic mobilization process.g An

7Reynaud, Mémoires, 2:81.

8Paul Reynaud, Jeunesse, quelle France veux-tu?
(Paris: Gallimard, 1936), pp. 43-46. This 1936 pre-election
campaign booklet concerned itself with a variety of economic,
political, and military matters.

9

JOC, January 26, 1937, p. 169.

il
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armored corps could have moved into the Rhineland within
hours of the aggression. It would have forced Hi£ler to
withdraw as he had originally intended if France had
attacked and it would have freed France from dependence on
England who in the end did not support the French.

The proof of the success in using elitist troops was
demonstrated in the Spanish Civil War. This conflict began
in 1936 when General Francisco Franco headed a revolt of
Spanish legionnaires in Morocco against the Republican
government in Madrid. After transporting his troops to
Spain, he developed a right-wing following called the
Falange which, with the help of German-Italian troops and
arms, waged war against the Republicans orALoyalists.
Franco, by means of 30,000 professionals, conquered half
of Spain. The only way the Republican government of Madrid
survived was by using the specialized troops of their
national_guard.10

Where were the elitist troops for the armored corps
to come from? As indicated in Table 2 on page 49, Reynaud
presented a wide range of figures; but the.key word was
"gradual." This was the basis of his amendment to the Two
Year Law. Without altering that portion of the measure
dealing with the extension of the tour of duty, Reynaud
recommended that there be a gradual transfer of troops from

the national army to the armored corps. This was to be

10Reynaud, Le Probl¢me militaire, pp. 72, 76-=77.




TABLE 2

RECRUITMENT SOURCES FOR THE ARMORED CORPS

.49

Jeunesse,
quelle Le Probléme
de Gaulle's | Reynaud's France militaire
letter of amendment | veux-tu? francais
Sources May 8, 1935 of 1935 (1936) (1937)
1) Surplus of career
professionals not
needed in current
army budget 32,000 18,000 15,000 28,000
2) Youths who would
join later but were
currently serving
in national army
(engagés) . 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000
3) Transfers from
national army of
specialists in
lightly mechanized
divisions. 7,000 25,000 25,000 18,000
4) Specialists to be
drawn from the
15,000 profes-
sionals still to be
recruited —_————— 7,000 | =—mmeme ] e
5) Transfers from
National Guard 15,000 15,000 | ====== | —e-mw-
6) Native Troops , 18,000 } ------ 20,000 20,000
7) Recruited ] @ m————- 20,000 25,000 25,000
8) Unexplained 11,000 | ====== |} ===} e
Total 98,000 100,000 100,000 106,000
SOURCES: Reynaud Papers, lettres de Gaulle, AN, May 8, 1935;

Paul Reynaud, Jeunesse, quelle France veux-tu? (Paris: Gallimard, 1936),
pp. 46-47; Paul Reynaud, Le Probléme militaire francais (Paris:
Flammarion, 1937), pp. 51-52, 56; Commission de 1l'Armée, Proces-Verbaux,

Amendement . .

. de recrutement, AAN, June 5, 1935, p. 3.
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accomplished by transferring the surplus of professional
soldiers over and above the number required by the budget
for a particular year. Further, by lowering the draft age
from 21 to 20, more soldiers could be obtained for the
national army which would allow the transfer of other cate-
gories such as specialists and members of lightly mechanized
units. Native troops would be admitted but would under no
circumstances constitute more than one-fifth of the
100,000 men needed.'!

The figures prompt questions. Who was to say that
the engagés (category two) would stay on to serve the six
year term required éf'the corps' professionals? Reynaud and
de Gaulle were, in fact, gambling that the high performance
of the elitist corps would attract the necessary recruits
as needed in category seven. Further, between de Gaﬁlle's
letter, the amendment, and the figures arrived at in
Reyraud's two books, there was a wide range in humbers as
well as variation in sources that suggested uncertainty and
ambiguity. Table 2, in fact, was more hypothetical than
real especially since it had to draw on a population scarred
by World War I and tinged with a desire to be left in peace
‘behind the Maginot Line.

Reynaud's position on national defense went beyond

the armored corps and related strategy. It demanded a

llCommission de 1'Armée, Procés-Verbaux, Amendement
. « . de recrutement, AAN, June 5, 1935, pp. 2-3.
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variety of changes on which the military, Reynaud told the
chamber; could not be expected to take the initiative.lz
Not the least of these reforms was the need to establish a
unified command or as Reynaud called it, a ministry of
national defense. Up to this time, the three branches of
defense: army, navy, and air had been loosely tied and
poorly coordinated since each had its own minister and chief
of staff. As an alternative, Reynaud proposed that one
minister and one chief of staff be given authority over all
three branches with a chief of the general staff being
delegated the power of commander-in-chief in time of war.13

Reynaud noted that there was a superior echelon of
thought and action that functioned over and above the three
armies. This level of strategy and military direction
involved diplomatic and economic questions such as whether
to use French aviation in a foreign theater or for protection
of Paris. Reynaud used as an example the feud that erupted
during World War I when the French army generals resisted
the transfer of men from the western front to Salonika
(Greece). If a unified command had been established at the
time, a decision wduld have resulted not an argument.14

One of the most important points was readiness. The

army had not been prepared to defend French security in 1338

1250c, January 26, 1937, p. 172.

131pida., p. 171.

14Paris Soir, February 15, 1937, p. 5.
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(Hundred Years War),_l792, 1870, or in 1914. b“In France,"
stated Reynaud, "it is our national traditionvof never being
ready . . . [and] It is a tradition that we must abolish."15

The lack of this readiness was evident in rearmament where

Reynaud cited the alarming lag behind the axis powers in
production and quality of arms. An example of this was the
famous 1937 Istria-Damascus race in which Italian planes
averaged 62.1 miles per hour better than French planes.
Aside from the poor quality of the finished planes, Reynaud
noted that in January of 1937, France and England possessed
a combined air force of 1,300 planes to Germany and Italy's
3,900.16

Coming back from Germany in the fall of 1937,
Reynaud described the German worker as toiling twenty-four
hours a day on three shifts and producing an average of 300
planes a month to France's forty-five. By December of the
same year, this ratio had changed from 350 to France's 35-40
giving the Germans somewhere between eight and nine times
more production. As ReYnaud put it to the finance commission

on March 2, 1938, the country was in danger until it stepped

ﬁp its manufacture of planes.l

15Paris Soir, June 3, 1937, p. 4.

l6Le Journal (Paris), September 3, 1937 and JOC,
January 26, 1937, pp. 169, 171. Of the 3,900 axis planes,
2,000 were German and 1,900 were Italian. No breakdown of
the French-English total was given.

17Le Journal, Cctober 21, 1937, p. 1; Le Figaro
(Paris), December 23, 1937, p. 1; and JOC, Commission des
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To Reynaud, the lags, inferiorities, and gaps were
everywhere. In 1937, the Italians launched two 35,000 ton
battleships for which the French had no egquivalent. Certain
French tanks did only four kilometers an hour (2.4 mph) while
certain German tanks could do forty kilometers an hdur (24
mph) . Certain German canons had a projectile capacity of
30 per cent more than similar French artillery. It took
eight months, Reynaud noted, for the Germans to build a
submarine; but it took eighteen months for the French.
Further, by 1937, the Germans had almost completed six
armored corps divisions while the French had none. The DLM,
the closest thing the French had to approximate a panzer
division, had 50 per cent fewer armored engines. French
engines, moreover, were less powerful and some were even

outdated.18

Describing the armaments race as the "non-bloody
zone of the war," Reynaud felt that the Germans were by 1937
rapidly taking possession of that zone. "It is," wrote

Reynaud, "the diplomacy of the machine that commands."19

finances, Procés-Verbaux, AAM, March 2, 1938, p. 77. 1In
these minutes, Reynaud stated that France produced 387
planes in 1937 or on a ratio of one to eight with Germany's
production represented by the latter figure. See pp. 75-76.

18Le Journal, September 3, 1937, p. 1l; Comoedia
(Paris), June 20, 1936, p. 1l; Paul Reynaud, "Ou En Sommes-
Nous? Bilan Politique 1937," Conferencia, December 1937 -
June 1938, p. 52; Le Journal, September 3, 1937, p. 1;
JOC, January 26, 1937, pp. 169, 171.

19

Paris Soir, November 1, 1937, pp. 1-2.
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In this respect, it was to Germany's advantagé not to talk
or'make‘immediate war with France. For each aay that she
put more distance between herself and France materially,
Germany stood a better chance of succeeding in an all out
war. Indeed, Reynaud maintained in December of 1937 that if
France did not speed up her production of arms, she would be
at the mercy of a potential air attack within six months by
the combined forces of Italy and Germany.20

With regard civil defense, Reynaud, before the
finance commission on March 2, 1938, wanted to know what the
government had developed as a plan for the evacuation of
Paris. Having previously remarked that if Belgiﬁm air fields
came under German occupation, Paris would be only 200 kilo-
meters (125 miles) in striking distance, Reynaud wanted to
know if hundreds of Parisians would die for want of gas
masks. More disturbing still was the response Reynaud
received from Minister of War Daladier that the delegation
of control over civil defense was divided between the
department of interior and the air ministry. Such a
situation, Reynaud protested, could not continue if civil

defense was to have any meaning in the real sense.21

khkkhkkkhkkkk

20Ibid.; Le Figaro, December 23, 1937, p. 1.

21JOC, Commission des finances, Procés-Verbaux, AAN,
December 2, 1936, p. 112 and March 2, 1938, pp. 74-75.
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To Reynaud, one of the principle probiems that
blocked thé Way to defense reform lay in the éttitudes of
the French people. They were, in fact, divided into narrow
interest groups that barred the road to collective effort.
This lack of a powerful collective ambition stemmed from the
insufficient numbers of young people to lend the system
dynamic thrust and also from the harmful discord that
resulted from the multiple party system.22

It was on the latter problem that the predominance
of interest groups proved most deleterious. When in 1938,
Leon Blum, Socialist leader of the Popular Front coalition
of Communists, Socialists, and Radicals, demanded a national
union government to deal with the serious financial problems,
the right refused because of the presence of the Communists.
This was ridiculous according to Reynaud who noted that the
Communists had voted all defense credits since 1936. On the
other hand, the leftist group of the Popular Front was
guilty of establishing incorrect priorities by demanding
social reforms before healing a sick economy and a flagging
defense program.23

To bring reform, the French needed to modify their

frame of mind. They needed to recognize that a problem of

22Paul ReYnaud, "Ou va le monde? La France et la
crise," Conferencia, May 1, 1937, p. 485 and Le Jour (Paris),
November 20, 1936, p. 1.

23Le Figaro, March 19, 1938, pp. 1, 4, and Paris Soir,
August 22, 1936.
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morale dominated their ﬁational life. The economic and
political crises had paralyzed the people. Immobility,
however, in the Europe of the 1930s meant death. According
to Reynaud, the country had to evolve. The French had to
wake up. While the Socialists and Communists of the Popular
Front squabbled for the forty hour week and the paid holiday,
the German armament industries were working around the clock.
While the French army remained mired in an archaic defensive
strategy, the Germans had put into action more than six
divisions of their lightning-offensive specialized corps.

The French were, in fact, fighting for the accessories while
ignoring the essentialé. Failure to modify their race by a
different set of attitudes spelled future disaster.24

In contrast to his press accounts admitting the
existence of a French morale problem and in Jeunesse in
which Reynaud lightly admonished his fellow countrymen for

their slowness, rigidity, and routine, Le Probléme, in a

much stronger fashion, attacked the bad qualities of the
French. One of their worst according to Reynaud was their
légéreté or lightness. History proved this in exposing the
poorly made preparations for the wars of 1870 and 1914.

Other deplorable habits included their hesitations,'timidity,
and laxity; but the worst by far was their pétit—bourgeois

spirit. This small mindedness kept the French mesmerized by

24Le Journal, August 21, 1936, p. 1 and September 3,
1937, p. 1. Paris Soir, August 22, 1936, p. 4; September 6,
1936, p. 1; and June 3, 1937, p. 4.
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their immediate needs: their shop, the bank Balance, and
the family. The way but fof them lay in recognizing the
seriousness of the German menace. Recognition, however, had
to be followed by action in order to carry out the most
needed military reform since 1792.25

Ultimately called for was the participation of all
clasées and parties in a government of public safety. This
government of national union, Reynaud felt, would bring a
sense of cohesion, unanimity, and solidarity that would help
the country get over its divisions and would recreate a
common soul. This government of national union which.would
replace rule by splinter parties had to communicate to the
workers that it depended on them whether or not France won
the "non-bloody phase." So as the Germans were spurred on
in their efforts by the mystique of German power, the
French workers had also the need to be spurred on by the
desire to save the nation. "We have to," spoke Reynaud in
the chamber on March 17, 1938, "silently and passionately
work, work, work! without distinguishing between day and

night, between the week and Sunday."26

25Reynaud, Jeunesse, pp. 37, 49, and Le Probléme,
pp. 16-17, 23.

26Le Figaro, March 15, 1938, p. 5; and March 19,
1938, pp. 1, 4; L'Alliance Démocratique (Paris), February 7,
1934, p. 2; Le Journal, October 10, 1936, p. 3; October 31,
1937, p. 1; January 13, 1938; and January 29, 1938, p. 2;
Journal de Rouen, July 26, 1936, p. 3; Le Jour, November 20,
1936, p. 1; Paris Soir, November 1, 1937, pop. 1-2; and JOC,
March 17, 1938, p. 842. : -




58
To channel this effort, it was the duty of the
elite to direct the people. Included among them were the
writers, academics, civil servants, bankers, businessmen,
engineers, farmers, lawyers, notary publics and doctors.
It was their responsibility to bring national union and to
reform the system in order to make France strong. It was
this elite who had to replace the current public attitude
of inertia with intellectﬁal hardiness and moral courage.
They had to find new solutions to old problems. They had
to reconstruct France by creating a climate where hate
would have no place. The French, themselves, along with the
elite had to feel the pride of being French. They had to
understand that they were the forgers of their own destiny.28
As if to pave the way by example, Reynaud offered
brave words of encouragement and advice. Such was the case
in February of 1938 when with patriotic fervor he declared
that ". . . the world will be surprised once again when it
will soon see that both at homqland abroad, France's

surrender has never been further away;"29 or at the moment

27Reynaud, La France a sauvé l'Europe, 2:529. This
postwar work (1947) is perhaps the first reference by
Reynaud to exactly who constituted the elite.

28Marianne (Paris), July 14, 1936, p. 1l; Le Petit
Marseillais (Marseilles), November 11, 1936, p. 3; L'Echo de

Paris, November 11, 1936; Conferencia, May 1, 1937, p. 500;

and December 1937-June 1933, p. 52; Le HMoniteur (Clermont-
Ferrand), June 14, 1937, p. 3; Le Journal, November 11, 1937,
pP. 4; Le Figaro, November 11, 1937, p. 4.

29

JOC, February 26, 1938, p. 649.
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of the Anschluss when in a spectacular address to the
entire chamber, he pleaded that ". . . at the present moment
when war and peace hang in the balance, it is a mistake to
reject the offer made to you [by Léon Blum for a government
of national union]}. . . .“30

Finally, the French had to work not only for
unanimity in their own country but also for that among the
democracies. It was through this concord that the various
peoples could reach agreement on questions that the

dictators resolved by force. ". . . the will of the

democracy," Reynaud observed in 1935, "is more stable than

the man whd passes."31

kkkkkkkkkk

In the realm of foreign affairs, the armored corps
was suppose to play 5ust as critical a role és it did in
internal defense. This was aptly expressed by Reynaud in
the debate of March 15, 1935 when he stated:

This corps of maneuver .is for us, moreover,
imposed by our foreign policy. It was stated
this afternoon and notably by M. Léon Blum that
the role of our army is like before, that of
being uniquely defensive inside of our country.

But this is not our [foreign] policy. And
it is necessary to have the army of its [our]
policy. By chance, would we have abandoned the
policy of assistance and pacts? Do we interpret

3050c, March 17, 1938, p. 843.

31£9§, December 27, 1935, p. 2813; L'Eclaireur de
Nice et du Sud-Est (Nice), November 6, 1937, p. 2. The
newspaper recorded a speech given by Reynaud at the Congress
of the Democratic Alliance held in Nice.
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assistance as a one way current that one éan

demand from London but that one would not give

to Vienna, Prague, or Brussels?32

The brunt of Reynaud's ideas on foreign policy,

however, did not concern how the armored corps would stra-
tegically assist such allies as Belgium, Poland,
Czechoslovakia, Yugoslavia, and Rumania. Other than passing
references to the importance of tightening ties with these
nations, Reynaud spent considerably less time with them than
with the super powers: England, Germany, Russia, and Italy.
This was not to say that he ignored the importance of the

former. As early as 1933, Reynaud in a series of articles

for the moderate La Liberté (Paris),33 stressed the need for

reliance on the constellation of alliances with the smaller,
less powerful nations of central and eastern Europe.

While occasional reference was made to their value
later on in chamber speeches and in press articles, Reynaud
was aware that several of these states were not in step one
with the other nor for that matter with France. Poland got
on badly with Czechoslovakia, Yugoslavia became increasingly
friendly with Italy, and what was more serious, both Poland
and Rumania were hostile to the passage of Russian troops
through their territories (in case the Soviets had to come
to the aid of France). This was especially true for Poland

where Foreign Minister Colonel Josef Beck, whom Reynaud

32JOC, March 15, 1935, p. 1042,

2 4
3312 Liberté, May 8, August 24, and September 5, 1933.
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described as a "bad shepherd" to the Poles, impeded French
efforts at collective security by appeasing Hitler and by
giving a cold shoulder to the soviets.34

Because of this, Reynaud did not trust the Polish
government. When Yvons Delbos, Radical foreign minister to
the Blum ministry, appeared before the finance commission
on December 23, 1936 to request approval of a 2.6 billion
franc loan for Warsaw (Rambouillet Accords), Reynaud raised

35 This loan which consisted of credits, arms,

questions.
and cash as well as French military and technical advice,
appeared to the centrist deputy to have been drawn up under
duress in a situation where if France did not grant the
loan, Poland would join with Germany against Czechoslovakia.
Such a diplomatic move was bad example to other European
allies who would then conclude that it was necessary to
threaten to become a traitor in order to get help from
France. Reynaud observed further that such a loan had been
granted to Turkey before World War I but during the conflict,
that country had used the funds against France.

In this unfortunate atmosphere of distrust, the main

thrust of Reynaud's foreign policy concerned France's chief

34Reynaud, Mémoires, 2:154. Reynaud described Beck's
foreign policy as incoherent and "hostile to all its neigh-
bors except Germany." On January 26, 1934, Beck signed a
ten year nonaggression pact with the Nazis.

35JOC, Commission des finances, Procés-Verbaux [sur
le] Projet de loi N°1525 autorisant le Ministre des Finances
a accorder la garantie de 1'Etat francais a des emprunts du
~
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friend, England; her potential friend, Russia; her chief
enemy, Germany; and her potential enemy, Italy. Germany
was, by far, the greatest, most powerful, and most immediate

threat. The German need for lebensraum or living space

south and eastward into the slavic nations as well as the
German hatred for France and the diktat of Versailles were

well documented in Mein Kampf.

A country in the process of deifying its race

according to Reynaud, Germany would only achieve this

deification and expansion by combat which explained the need
to mobilize on a war footing, German industry, technology,
and manpower.36 Atteﬁpts by Hitler to emphasize the
Bolshevik threat from Russia were a clever campaign of
diversionary propaganda since three-quarters of Germany's
troops were stationed on the Dutch-Belgian-French frontier.37
There was no disguising it. Germany was the wolf of
Europe and those who believed in the nonsense that Hitler
was its defender against communism were the "Little Red

38

Riding Hoods." This menace was further compounded by

Germany's liaison with the man of prey, Mussolini. The

Gouvernment polonais et de la Compagnie franco-polonaise de
chemins de fer, AAN, December 23, 1936, p. 5.

36Conferencia, May 1, 1937, p. 485 and December 1937 -
June 1938, pp. 40-41.

37

Paris Soir, February 2, 1937, p. 4.

38, 'Epoque (Paris), October 6, 1937, p. 5.
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danger from these two was most immediate in the
Mediterranean where axis involvement in Tripoli (Libya) and
spanish Morocco could catch the French colonies of Algeria
and Tunisia in a pincer movement thus cutting them off from
France who would have to depend on them in case of a major
European conflict.39

The reoccupation of the Rhineland and Italian
invasion of Ethiopia were for Reynaud the prelude to a major
European conflict that could only be avoided if France were
militarily strong and if France maintained her allies as
well as that "card of quality," the armored corps.40
Although Reynaud conceded that discussions with the Reich
over territorial demands might yield some fruit and although
not opposed to a settlement with Germany on the arms race
and on other disputes, the means of reconciliation still
remained France's military strength since the Germans under

Nazism lived by the cult of force.41

39Reynaud, Mémoires, 2:120, and Jean Mistler et al.,
Problémes de politique extérieure (Paris: Librairie Félix
Alcan, 1937), pp. 173-79. This book contains a speech given
by Reynaud on April 15, 1937 before the Society of the former
and present students of the Ecole Libre des Sciences
Politique. According to Reynaud, the Italians had an
interest in Tripoli while the Germans catered to the Moslems
in Spanish Morocco by providing them with a boat to Mecca
so they could fulfill their holy pilgrimace. It was, in
fact, from Spanish Morocco that General Francisco Franco
carried his military coup to Spain with the help of the
German air force.

40Paris Soir, September 6, 1936, p. 1.

41

L'Echo de Paris, January 8, 1937, p. 1.
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The situation with Italy was more comﬁlicated.
Reynaud‘acknowledged the French love for this latin sister
in terms of the peninsular's art, language, people, and
countryside; and actually, the problem lay not so much with
the people who were essentially nonwarlike as with the tiny
but successful Fascist party headed by Benito Mussolini.

The Duce's message to his country, the starved nouveau-venu

of Europe, was a promise of fulfillment through war and
conquest. Ethiopia (invaded by Italy on October 10, 1935)
according to Reynaud would not be enough to satisfy
Mussolini especially when the League of Nations had
completely failed to enforce sanctions, a factbr that would
encourage the Fascist leader to try his luck elsewhere.42

In spite of these realities, Reynaud still worked
for a rapprochement with Italy. He pointed out that with
the Germans at the Brenner Pass and Mussolini's troops
bogged down 2,500 miles away in Ethiopia, the Duce feared
Hitler's intentions and, therefore, it was to France's
advantage to drive a wedge between the two dictators by
offering the olive branch to Italy.43

Of Russia, Reynaud, since 1933, had commented on the

potential value Soviet industrialization could have in terms

42JOC, December 27, 1935, pp. 2815-16; Paris Soir,
Aggust 22, 1936, p. 4; and Reynaud Papers, "Dossier Portalet
N“XIV," AN, Reynaud to Henri de Kerillis, August 25, 1935.

43Le Journal, November 16, 1937 and Paris Soir,
August 22, 1936, p. 4. Reynaud refers to Austrians as
Germans. '
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of supplying France's smaller allies of Central and Eastern
Europe. Indeed, if France and Russia could come to an
understanding, the Russians could serve as the eastern
buttress of the Petite Entente, a coalition which by itself
had little support to offer France. Further, Franco-
Russian entente would give equilibrium to the European
balance of power by containing Hitler who lived in fear of a
two front war. This was not an imaginary fear for as
Reynaud pointed out, it was tsarist Russia of 1914 who by
the attack on German forces in the east had allowed the
French to win the battle of the Marne.44

The road to eﬁtente was complicated, however, by
events both within the Soviet Union and France. Joseph
Stalin's purges had weakened both the army and the political

structure of the nation. PFurther, the Komintern or Third

International with its goal of spreading international
communism was still in operation. On the other hand,

Reynaud noted that there appeared to be an evolution away
from this goal and a movement back toward the imperialism
and nationalism of the czars. This was reflected in Stalin's
emphasis on implementing socialism first and foremost within

Russia.45

44La Liberté, May 8, August 24, and September 5,
1933; JOC, February 26, 1938, p. 648; Conferencia, May 1,
1937, p. 497, and December 1937 - June 1938, p. 47.

45

Conferencia, December 1937 - June 1938, pp. 46-47.
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In a like fashion, Reynaud underwent an evolution
in attitude toward the French Communists. In his
pecember 4, 1936 address to the chamber, the centrist deputy
stressed the clear impossibility of diplomatic entente with
the Soviets while the Communist contingent remained a
supporting factor in the Popular Front government.
According to Reynaud, the majority of the French people
still considered the Third International (to which the
French Communists adhered) as based out of Moscow and very
much a real threat.’ "I believe," stated Reynaud, "that
alone, a Government independent of the Communist party
would be able to carry out a policy [of detente]."%6

In 1937, however, Reynaud, in an address to the
University Club of Paris, stated that he did not believe in
the development of communism in France. The reasons were
the evolution of the Soviets under Stalin and the social
make up of the French people which could never take on the
international character of the Komintern.47 Further, in
1938, Reynaud noted that the Communists had voted the
defense cred;ts for the last two years and»they had ceased
all their antimiliéarist activity. This followed, Reynaud
wrote, from their realization that the interests of both

Russia and France were identical: the search for a

46JOC, December 4, 1936, p. 3325.

471e Figaro, May 2, 1937, p. 4.
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European equilibrium. In this same article in Le Figaro
(March 19, 1938), Reynaud asked: |

How could the two democracies of the West
[England and France] with their decreasing
numbers of youth hope to maintain European
equilibrium without the aid of this formidable
reservoir of men and raw materials regardless
of the internal convulsions of contemporary
Russia?

Failure to get this aid would be disastrous.

According to Mein Kampf, which Reynaud cited to the chamber
49

on February 26, 1938, Hitler's main aim before launching
into a great adventure toward the Asian steppe was the
elimination of an attack from the rear and notably from
France. Thus before France could be dealt with, the Franco-
Russian entente had to be broken and a temporary pact with
the Soviets had to be effected. Unless the French could
strengthen ties with the Soviets, in Reynaud's view, there
was a distinct possibility that Germany would annex the
countries of the Petite Entente by a bloodless war of
persuasion after which the Reich would make a momentary deal
with the Russians. Then Germany could turn to France and
offer her slavery or a war in which France would have no

allies.50

48Le Figaro, March 19, 1938, p. 4.

49JOC, February 26, 1938, p. 648.

50Con‘ferencia, December 1937 - June 1938, p. 48.




68

To avoid another Rapallo, a 1920 military pact
between’Germany and Russia, the French had to overcome
their fears of communism and put the safety of France
first. To construct a military pact with teeth in it, a
consultation between the general staffs of France and
Russia was needed. This was especially desirable between
the two air forces. Russia, who had bad roads and an
inferior rail network, possessed an aviation twice as
strong as that of Germany's. This air force Would be an
excellent means of rapidly closing the distance between
Russia and the point of possible conflict farther west.
Lastly, if any Frenchman doubted the effectiveness of
Soviet strength, let him regard the influence of Russian
aid on Republican Spain where because of Soviet shipments
of artillery, tanks and planes, the Loyalists were able to
resist Franco for more than three years in spite of German-
Italian aid to the leader of the Falange.51

The signing of the nonaggression pact between
Hitler and Stalin on August 22, 1939 indicated that Reynaud
was one of the few French statesmen to have adequately
grasped the true design of Hitler toward Russia. The

Fuhrer, in order to avoid a two front war, maneuvered the

51L'Oeuvre (Paris), April 16, 1936, p. 2; L'Echo de
Paris, November 21, 1936, p. 4; Ce Soir (Paris), March 21,
1938, p. 4; Conferencia, December 1937 - June 1938, p. 47
and May 1, 1937, p. 499; JOC, December 4, 1936, p. 3325
and February 26, 1938, p. 647. , :
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soviets into a position of neutrality while hé first took
on Polahd and then France. Later, with thesé defeated, he
turned on Russia in June of 1941.

Activity of Russia after September 1939, however,
indicated a weakness that Reynaud appeared not to have
realized. Regard the difficulty the Soviets had in over-
coming the Finns in the winter of 1939-40 and later, the
terrible losses they suffered at the hands of the Germans,
and still later, the enormous need the Russians had for
British and American arms (in spite of what Reynaud had to
say about the might of Russian industrialization and
manpower). In light of this, how much weaker was Russia at
the time of the Munich crisis when the Soviet Union was
reeling under the effects from the mass executions of army
officers, politburo leaders, and peasantry?

Moreover, the task of carrying off a pact with the
Soviets was more difficult than Reynaud had made it out to
be. Russia of the 1930s was not the tsarist regime of 1914
which willingly attacked from the east in order to open
another front. To the contrary, the Russia of Stalin was a
totalitarian system under a Machiavellian opportunist. The
atmosphere of distrust and repression he created encouraged
a hands off attitude among political and military leaders
not only in France but elsewhere in western Europe. In the
final analysis, the possible westwardvmovement of Soviet

arms and ideology was thus a qualified risk in any pact with
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France; but in view of the disaster that befell la patrie
in May df 1940, it might have been worth the taking.

On England, the keywords were mutual support and
the maintenance of European equilibrium through the League
of Nations. In his famous speech of December 27, 1935;
Reynaud lamented the failure to pursue this aim following
Mussolini's attack on Ethiopia (October 2, 1935).52 Although
the League had enforced sanctions against Italy on
November 8, 1935, French Premier, Pierre Laval, had in early
December convinced Foreign Secretary Samuel Hoare to agree
to a division of Ethiopia into spheres of influence giving
two-thirds of the country to Italy. When the deal leaked
to the press, the British people who for the most part
supported sanctions were shocked not only at the action of
the French but also at their own foreign secretary who in
the course of the uproar was forced to resign and was
replaced by Anthony Eden.

It was this deal brimarily motivated by Laval that
Reynaud denounced to the chamber as having done severe
damage to Franco-B;itish relations as well‘as to the
effectiveness of the League Covenant. In his speech,
Reynaud clearly differentiated between what served British
interests and what the English people themselves really felt

was correct. Surely it was true as Hoare had put it to the

52350c, December 27, 1935, pp. 2813-16.
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House of Commons that‘the deal with Laval was prompted by
the fact that not one nation offered EnglandAa ship toward
policing the enforcement of oil sanctions in the
Mediterranean. In light of this, a confrontation between
Italy and Britain would have led to a war in which England
would have been isolated; and this was sdmething that Hoare
wanted to avoid.53

Reynaud noted, however, that Ethiopia had been A
member nation of the League whose Covenant (including
sanctions in face of an aggressor) the British people had
really believed in. Reynaud then made a reference to Lord
Robert Cecil's March 1934 Peace Ballot, a questionnaire put
to the British on whether League sanctions should be applied
ih case of violation of the Covenant. "Do you believe,"
Reynaud asked the chamber, "that the British people were
deranged when they voted on this question of peace and the
League of Nations; [considering] that 9,627,000 voted ﬁhey
were ready to impose on their own country the sacrifice--in
case a war would be unjustly declared--[of] economic

sanctions and that only 670,000 voted against [?]"54

53350c, December 27, 1935, p. 2814.

54Ibid., p. 2813. In his Mémoires, Reynaud gives
10,027,608 for sanctions and 635,074 against. Another
question on the referendum asked the British if they would
support military measures if needed. Voting for were
6,784,368 and against, 2,351,98l. See Reynaud, Mémoires,
2:452,
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In spite of this setback, Reynaud never gave up on
the need to work for closer ties between the two nations.
In spite of the naval accords secretly drawn up between
Britain and Germany in the spring of 1935 (to Reynaud, a
measure taken by Hitler to break up the entente between

3 in spite of the Ethiopian fiasco,

France and England),5
and later, the reoccupation of -the Rhineland‘by Hitler in
which Britain had failed to come to the aid of France,
Reynaud's idea was the maintenance of mutual solidarity
between the two nations through an effective and powerful
League of Nations. This theme Reynaud repeated in both his
chamber speeches of Décember 4, 1936 and February 26, 1938.
In addition, commentary for press and radio argued either
for closer ties or for the rapid rearmament of both
countries.56
Oon England, Reynaud lacked a critical perspective
he had shown elsewhere. Perhaps this came from too close a

belief in the antiappeasement forces in England centered

around Winston Churchill, Anthony Eden, and the British

5j0c, December 27, 1935, p. 2813. This agreement
which was in violation of the Versailles Treaty was signed
in London on June 18, 1935. In the following ten years, it
limited the German Navy to one-third the size of the British
but accorded it the right to build submarines up to 60
percent of British strength and to 100 percent in case of a
security threat.

56Le Journal, June 19, 1936, p. 3 (Speech given at
the Ambassadeurs); L'Echo de Paris, YNovember 11, 1936, . 4
and November 21, 1936; Paul Reynaud, Discours du Ministre,
2 vols. (Paris: Ministeére des FPinances, November 24, 1939),
2:2, 4. ‘
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people of Lord Cecil's Peace Ballot. Thus in the pages of
Ce Soir'(Paris) on March 31, 1938, Reynaud mistakenly
predicted that England would not stand by and let Germany
repeat in Czechoslovakia what she had done in Austria.57
The truth was that the England of the thirties, a decade
dominated by Prime Ministers Ramsay MacDonald, Stanley
Baldwin, and Neville Chamberlain, was isolationist and
appeasement orientated. These leaders were unwilling to
become involved in continental affairs unless England's
survival depended on it. A case in point was Britain's
attitude toward the Spanish Civil War.

This imbroglio which broke out in 1936 was several
years in the making. After the expulsion of King Alfonso
XIIT in 1931, a republic was established which undertook a
program of social and economic reform; Its basic tone was
anticlerical and antiwealthy since the government dissolved
the Jesuit order and confiscated its property while at the
same time, it broke up some of the large landed estates and
redistributed their lands. When the 1936 elections were
held, all the elements of the 1eft—-Republicans, Socialists,
Syndicalists, Arnafchists, and Communistsj—joined in a
Popular Front platform against the elements of the conserv-

ative old regime--the monarchists, clerics, and army

57Ce Soir (Paris), March 21, 1939, p. 4. This
article also appeared on the same day in the Sunday Times
(London) . While most of Reynaud's newspaper articles are
mentioned in his Mémoires, this one is conspicuously absent.
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officers. The left won a victory and in July of 1936,
general Francisco Franco then stationed in Spanish Morocco
staged his famous coup. With the help of the German air
force, he transported his followers known as Falangists to
continental Spain where three years of bloody civil war
ensued which ended in Franco's victory.

In actuality, the Spanish Civil War was a contest

between rival European ideologies since Fascist Franco was
supported by German and Italian arms and men while the
Loyalists or Republicans received Soviet aid. This localized
European war saw the almost complete absence of England and
France, the latter under the influence of the former
developed a position of nonintervention even when it later
became clear that Germany, Italy and Russia were all in
violation of the nonintervention agreement; Thus while
Britain advised France to stay neutral so as to avoid a
general European conflagration, Germany and Italy used
Spain to test their new strategies based on a hardware of
tanks and planes.

All of Reynaud's references to the Spanish Civil War
followed this position of nonintervention. His first
mention of the war came on July 26, 1936 when in a speech at
Rouen, the deputy noted that a similar civil war in France

~ could easily lead to an invasion by Hitler on the excuse

that the Fihrer was reestablishing order.ss While Reynaud

58Journal de Rouen, July 26, 1936, p. 3.
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did not say that this was adequate grounds fof noninter-
vention, he argued for neutrality five days later in the
Cchamber of Deputies. The issue at stake was the same,
French security. If France became involQed, the vital
pathways to her colonies in North Africa would be endangered
since Spain was the bridge across t!.» western Mediterranean,
a position which allowed her to choke off French traffic to
the dark continent.59 |

While a later position stated in Le Figaro on
November 21, 1936 voiced frustration at the free for all the
Fascists were having in Spain (in violation of noninter-
vention),60 a second chamber reference of Reynaud to the
civil war stuck to the line of neutrality. In this speech
of December 4, 1936, Reynaud advised that if the fronts
were to stabilize during the winter, France should attempt
a mediation between the two antagonists "because we are
unable to do anything else."61

Without mentioning why France could do nothing else,
Reynaud made no further reference to the civil war until
October 12, 1937 when he again voiced dismay at the "unfor-

tunate Spanish affair" in which the French because they had

cast their die with neither contestant had lost all

3%350c, July 31, 1936, p. 2307.

60Le Figaro, November 21, 1936, p. 2.

61JOC, December 4, 1936, p. 3323.
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62 This short reference in

influence with both factions.
Le Jourhal thus hinted for the first time that Reynaud
himself had made an error in choosing neutrality. The error
was magnifiedkbecause the war took place very close to
French North Africa. Thus the French were reduced to the
role of spectator: watching with uncertainty and appre-
hension, powerless to assure their best interests at the
outcome of the war. A later commentary on Spain in 1939
reflected this position of weakness while at the same time
attempting to assure France's best interests at the eleventh
hour. France in cooperation with England, stated Reynaud

in a radio broadcast,.had to help the triumphant‘faction
establish order which meant in turn ridding Spain of German
and Italian troops who Reynaud made a veiled reference to as
n63

"people who have come to its [Spain's] aid.

Hugh Thomas in his lengthy book, The Spanish Civil

War, has described Reynaud as "one of the strongest

v 64 The evidence presented here

supporters of the Republic.
does not agree with that statement. Reynaud never mentioned
support for the Spanish Republic either in his Mémoires or

in the accounts considered in this study. This in itself is

62Le Journal, October 12, 1936, p. 1. On September 3,
1937, Reynaud in Le Journal made a passing reference to the
continuing presence of German specialists in Spain.

63

L'Oeuvre, March 29, 1938, p. 4.

64Hugh Thomas, The Spanish Civil War (New York: Harper
& Row, 1963), p. 537. Thomas does not present evidence to
prove his statement.
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puzzling because Reynaud in his speeches had_encouraged the
principies of democracy in face of Fascist dictatorships.
The Spanish Republic was the representative of democracy in
spain. It had legitimately won the 1936 election and was
now being challenged by an illegal Fascist contestant.

Several possible explanations as to what motivated
Reynaud to choose neutrality do not stand up well. These
included: that the French Popular Front support of
Republican Spain would cause a civil war in France between
the forces of left and right, and that because of such
support, a victory of the Spanish Popular Front would mean
a Communist take over in Spain paralleled by a strengthening
of the Communist movement in France (with Reynaud portrayed
to his electors and the nation as a Bolshevik); that under
these conditions, Hitler had a perfect opportunity to invade
France; and finally, French participation in the Iberian
conflict would open a possible third hostile front along the
Pyrenees.

The idea of a civil war in France was encouraged by
an alarmist press of the extreme right who; fearful of the
Communist element in the Popular Front, refused to‘recognize
the fact that this leftist coalition was firmly and legally

installed with the Socialists and Radicals dominating the

cabinet. Further, in Conferencia of May 1, 1937, Reynaud

interpreted the fear of a Communist takeover in the

respective countries as more German propaganda than real:
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The other result is that this [Franco-Soviet]
pact has allowed Germany to conduct a campaign
against us in which she declares:

- "France is sovietized." [Moreover] Since the
Popular front has arrived in power, Germany has
been able to say:

- "In February, it is the Popular Front in
Spain, in May, it is the Popular Front in France.
These are the same raised fists, the same

" International, the same red flag. That [spirit]
has been destroyed in the Civil War in Spain.
France will soon follow in its footsteps."

- So much for the German propaganda.65

Other evidence indicated that in the initial stages
of the civil war, the Spanish Communists did not occupy the
predominant influence that later fell to them out of forced
reliance upon Soviet aid. Historian Dante Puzzo has noted
that this initial stage was crucial since the failure of
* Franco to win a quick victory could have led to his early

defeat if the Madrid government had been permitted to
66

purchase the necessary war materials in France. On the

other hand, historian Gordon Wright has maintained that
French intervention was exactly what Hitler wanted because
it would have involved Britain and France in a dragging,
spreading war which would have allowed Hitler a free hand to

strike eastward.67

65Conferencia, May 1, 1937, p. 498.

A 66Dante»Puzzo, Spain and the Great Powers 1936-41
(New York: Columbia University Press, 1962), p. 241.

67Gord0n Wright, France in Modern Times (Chicago:
Rand McNally & Company, 1966), p. 499.
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The truth was, however, that Hitler wés still very
weak in 1936 and had given the order to retreét from the
Rhineland if the French took to the offensive. Thus it
seemed highly’unlikely the Fihrer would have attempted an
vinvasion of France or an expansion elsewhere under the
circumstances. Moreover, the Lovalists were mainly looking
for arms and other supplies not soldiers. This was far
short of an all out war thaﬁ Reynaud tended to foresee in
his speeches. Indeed Puzzo, in a vein of thought different
from Reynaud's, saw French aid to the legitimate leftist
government as the means of insuring the tranquility of the
Pyrenean frontier as well as of safeguarding the legitimate
interests of France in the Mediterranean and North Africa.

Historian Gordon Craig has stated that the triumph
of Franco weakened France's strategical position in any
dispute with Germany by placing a potential enemy on her
flank. According to Craig, it also deepened the tendehcy
toward defeatism in the democracies and carried the principle
of collective security closer to bankruptcy.69 This appears
to be an accurate description of the disastrous results of
nonintervention in which France out of deference to her
"ally" England, deserted the camp of the legitimately

elected government in Spain and thus lost a potentially

68Puzzo, Spain, p. 85.

69Gordon A. Craig, Europe Since 1815 (New York: Holt,
Rinehart and Winston, 1966), p. 714.
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jmportant ally. Reynaud in his support of close ties with
England!was a part of this blunder equivalent in impact to
more highly publicized capitulations such as the Italian
occupation okathiopia and the reoccupation of the Rhineland
by Hitler.

In the presentation of Reynaud's ideas on defense,
one becomes aware of the modification of his views after
the chamber vote of February 2, 1937. This vote, a ratifi-
cation of Daladier's attitude on military strategy, was an
approval of the Maginot Line and the accompanying theories
of the defensive: the predominance of fire power with the
limitations it set upén movement, and the theory of the

continuous front to be held by couverture troops.

After this vote, Reynaud's last major campaign for
the armored corps and related military strategy occurred in

June with the release of Le Probléme militaire francais.

Other than this publication, Reynaud made only three news-

paper references in 1937 to his armored engines and none at

70

all to them in 1938-39. Instead, Reynaud concentrated on

the strong points of the French as well as on the improvement

7oThe three newspapers were Vendémiaire (Paris),
February 10, 1937; Paris Soir, June 3, 1937; and Le Figaro,
December 23, 1937. Reynaud made a passing reference to the
failure of the chamber to act on his 1935 amendment in the
debate of February 26, 1938. See JOC, February 26, 1938,
" pP. 647. From 1937 on, the de Gaulle correspondence to
Reynaud also tapered off 'til by 1939, Reynaud received only
two letters from de Gaulle. Contrast this with the eighteen
received in 1936.
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of defense within the existing systems (armaménts, unified
command) and the need for French unanimity).

Thus in a speech before the Kultur Bund of Vienna
on October 15, 1937, Reynaud stated that France had the best
army in the world and that, indeed, this would be the
assurance peace would be maintained.71 Later, in the chamber
on February 26, 1938, Reynaud stated that in face of the
problems of Europe in 1938, the French were never farther
away from surrender.72 Moreover, on March 21, 1938, in an
article for Ce Soir (Paris), Reynaud wrote that once the
country had overcome certain shortages in armament materials,
the French army would be the first in the world. Continuing
in the same article, Reynaud noted that no other army had
such an extensive corps of officers or instructed reserves
as did the French.73

After joining the Daladier cabinet as justice
minister on April 11, 1938, this burst of optimism continued.
At Leeds, England on May 22, 1938, Reynaud stated that
Daladier's government of national defense would not fail in
74

- its duty. Much the same idea was pronounced in a radio

discourse a year later when as finance minister, Reynaud

71Le Journal, October 16, 1937, p. 5.

72JOC, February 26, 1938, p. 649.

73ce Soir, March 21, 1938, p. 4.

74Le Figaro, May 22, 1938, p. 3.
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remarked that in spite of the German advantages of secrecy
and an érmy capable of lightning attack, the Daladier
government of national union behind which the French people
stood would rise to the occasion.75

Needless to say, this change in attitude led to a
decline in Reynaud's accuracy of vision and engendered a
variety of errors. Thus Reynaud's statement about the
superiority of the French army was exaggerated. His speech
before the chamber on February 26, 1938 was in direct
contradiction to the strong current of defeatism among the
French. Further, the statement in Ce Soir that the English
would not stand by and allow the Germans to repeat the
Anschluss in Czechoslovakia was incorrect ﬁust as were
Reynaud's assertions that the Daladier administration would
be strong in face of the dictators, a mistake that became
evident at Munich when France along with England capitulated
to Hitler on the Sudetenland guestion. That Reynaud would
repeat his belief in the strength of the Daladier regime
the following summer in his radio broadcast of June 15, 1939
can only be explained as false optimism. |

General Alfred Conquet, Marshal Philippe Pétain's
personal secretary during much of the thirties, has suggested
that this change in attitude was a kowtow to Daladier, a
premier whose defense views were diametrically opposed to

those of Reynaud's. Thus in order to be promoted from the

75Reynaud, Discours, 2:5.
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justice to the finance ministry, Reynaud according to
Conquet; had to muzzle his ideas on defense, an arrangement
also necessary for Reynaud to stay in power.76

Conquét's conclusions, however, do not take into
consideration the attitude of optimism Reynaud has assumed
before his entry into Daladier's cabinet on April 11, 1938.
This went back as far as the Kultur Bund speech of 1337.
Moreover, Reynaud in his Mémoires stated that since it was
impossible to alter Daladier's position on national defense,
he would do better to enact a program of financial recovery

beginning with his acceptance of finances on November 1,

1938. To effect this redressement, an attitude of optimism
77

was the first prerequisite.
In the final analysis, a much better explanation for
Reynaud's change and the errors that followed lay in his
recognition that the vote of February 2, 1937 was sufficient
proof that the French nation was thoroughly sold on the
defensive. Why bother to be negative in light of this?
"Daladier developed a war doctrine," wrote Reynaud in La

France a sauvé l'Europe, "that he presented as that of his

party and which corresponded, it is true to the feeling of

7651 ¢red Conquet, Auprés du Maréchal Pétain (Paris:
Editions France-Empire, 1970), p. 432ff. Conquet presents
his case by inference: the continued presence of Reynaud in
the cabinet represented the sacrifice of integrity to
ambition. For the Conquet-Reynaud literary feud, see
Appendix A. '

77Reynaud, Mémoires, 2:200.
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the large majority of Frenchmen: the systematic
defensive."78 |

The diminished relevance and foresight that charac-
terized the later pronouncements of Reynaud on national
defense must be evaluated, however, within the framework of
his overall views on how best to protect France. In this
respect, Reynaud must be given credit for the broad range
of his ideas: armored corps, collective security, unified
command, rearmament (battle of the armies in the nonbloody
zone of the war), civil defense, national union, readiness
as well as the state of mind, morale, and attitudes of the
French people.

On the other hand, this system of national defense
demonstrated important weaknesses, A case in point was the
armored corps. The need to change recruitment figures four
times was a bad foundation since the viability of the
armored corps lay in finding the necessary men to keep it a
separate branch of the armed forces. This had to be done
without weakening the national army, a source which Reynaud
and de Gaulle had to tap, however, in order to place their
corps in operation. While Reynaud and de Gaulle tried to
diminish the effect of this borrowing by explaining the
armored corps as an officer's training school for the
national army, the draining of talented troops from the

latter was to meet with objections.

78Reynaud, La France a sauvé 1l'Europe, 1:211.
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The role of aviation in the armored corps was

undevelbped. No plan was put forth to tie the plane
closely to the movement of tanks, a mistake that became
evident when the French had to witness the dive bombers
covering German tanks in May-June 1940. De Gaulle became
aware of this after the German blitzkrieg in Poland and
subsequently did a hasty revision of Vers 1'armée de métier

in 1940 called The Army of the Future79 in order to include

the new role of aviation in armored tank warfare. Noticeably
absent from the title of the second work were the words
"professional army," the direct translation from the French
of the first title, a phrase that had caused consternation
among boﬁh military and politicians since it provided fuel
for the charge that de Gaulle's armored corps was a totally
separate army.

In the realm of strategy, Reynaud never gave the
exact details on how the armored corps would cover the
unfortified area from Montmédy to the sea (approximately
218 miles) or what the armored corps would}do if the Germans
broke through the Maginot Line and the unpfotected frontier
at the same time. Reynaud never mentioned where in Belgium
or Luxemberg the armored corps would pass on its way to
Germany in case the latter attacked Czechoslovakia. Further,

he never mentioned which cities or areas of Germany the

79Charles de Gaulle, The Army of the Future [trans-
lator unknown] {(London: Hutchinson, 1940).
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armored corps should aim for. Moreover, Reynéud never
seemed ﬁo consider the hundreds of miles of Germany that
separated France from her ally, Czechoslovakia, or the
possibility that such assistance might overextend the
armored corps supply line.

Another weakness in Reynaud's defense system was the
unreliability of France's "friends" to the east. 1In part,
this was due to the badly reconstructed Europe of the
Versailles Treaty, an arrangement which created an impossible
situation in central and eastern areas of.the continent. The
exclusion of Russia from the treaty negotiations, the
granting of Russian Bessarabia to Rumania, the acquisition
of Russian territory by the Poles (done after the treaty
with the help of the French), the creation of the miscast
state of Czechoslovakia with its German minorities and its
duchy of Teschen coveted by the Poles created long term
enmities among these powers that made effective collabo-
ration between them and jointly with France out of the
question.

An additional weakness in Reynaud's defense views
was the undue reliance upon England. As later events were
to prove (the Spanish Civil War an example), the British
had become profoundly isolationist and did not intend inter-
vention on the continent unless their own safety was

seriously threatened.
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Still, much of Reynaud's message: rapid rearmament,
readiness, unified command, and national union were geared
to make France strong. If these ideas had been followed,
France could have played a more influential, more independent
role in Europe instead of leaning on England, retreating
behind the false security of the Maginot Line, and mumbling
"commitments to allies that had no credibility. As for the
armored corps, in spite of its hypothetical character and
its technical shortcomings, its proposed strategy of mobility,
surprise, and armored warfare was a step away from the
defensive mentality of the past and a move toward the war

tactics of the future.




CHAPTER III

REYNAUD AND THE CHAMBER OF DEPUTIES

The Background

The French Chamber of Deputies and the Senate weré
the legislative branch of the Third Republic. In this
capacity, they dominated the executive or premier who had
to get parliamentary approval on all important bills in
order to keep his cabinet and himself in office. Unlike the
president of the United States, the French premier's
existence depended on the legislature's sanction of the next
bill perhaps a day or a few weeks away. Attempts by the
premier to establish an effective system of checks and
balances failed which was the case with the 1934 proposal
‘of,right wing president, Gaston Doumergue.

His plan involved the president of the Republic, a
figure elected every seven years by joint session of the
senate and chamber (National Assembly). It was this
president who was responsible for appointing premier which-
ever politician believed himself capable of establishing a
parliamentary majority. According to Doumergue, in case of
continued impasse between executive and legislature, the
president would be allowed to dismiss the chamber and to
request new elections as was the procedure in Britain. The

88
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plan resulted in Doumergue's resignation following the
defectién of the Radicals from his cabinet. The chronic
ministerial instability (see Table 3, p. 90) that came out
of this imbalance between executive and legislature forced
the government to rely increasingly on decree law powers.
since these powers-allowed the premier and his cabinet to
pass bills without legislative approval, they were a tacit
affidavit to parliamentary paralysis. This weakness was
compounded during the 1930s by three important factors.

The first of these, the Great Depression, had a
profound effect on France. Along with the general symptoms
suffered by most westérn nations such as loss of trade,
loss of investment, and high unemployment levels, the French
economic crisis was aggravated by the failure to understand
that the franc was overvalued on international money markets
and thus could not compete for what little import-export
trade existed. Economic mismanagement by attempting to shut
out foreign competitors with high tariffs and by deflation
of government expenditures in the form of budget cuts
resulted in additional loss of revenue that aggravated state
indebtedness and discouraged private enterprise from making
new investment. Ministry after ministry came and went
because of the dissatisfaction of the legislative branch
with the worsening situation. If one peruses the pages of

the Journal Officiel for these years, the reader can easily

see the diminished importance of national defense in turning



TABLE 3

. 90

CHIEFS OF THE GENERAL STAFF, PREMIERS, MINISTERS

OF WAR AND FOREIGN AFFAIRS, 1933-39

Chief of General

Year Staff Premier War FPoreign Affairs
1933 | Weygand P.-Boncour Daladier P.-Boncour
1931-1935 12/18/32 - 12/18/32 -~ 12/18/32 -
1/30/33 1/28/34 1/28/34
Daladier
1/31/33 -
10/25/33
Sarraut
10/26/33 -
11/25/33
Chautemps
11/26/33 - Fabry
1934 1/28/34 then
Daladier P.-Boncour Daladier
1/29/34 - 1/29/34 - 1/29/34 -
2/8/34 2/8/34 2/8/34
Doumergue Pétain Barthou
2/9/34 - 2/9/34 - 2/9/34 -
11/7/34 11/7/34 10/9/34
Flandin Maurin Laval
11/8/34 - 11/8/34 - 10/10/34 -
1935 Gamelin 5/31/35 5/31/35 1/23/36
1935~ 1940 Bouisson Pétain
6/1/35 - 6/1/35 -
6/6/35 6/6/35
Laval Fabry
6/7/35 - 6/7/35 -
1936 1/23/36 1/23/36
Sarraut Maurin Flandin
1/24/36 - 1/24/36 - 1/24/36 -
6/2/36 6/2/36 6/2/36
Blum Daladier Delbos
6/3/36 - 6/3/36 -~ 6/3/36 ~
1937 6/21/37 5/17/40 3/12/38
Chautemps
6/22/37 -
1938 3/12/38
Blum P.-Boncour
3/13/38 -~ 3/13/38 -
4/9/38 4/9/38
Daladier G. Bonnet
4/10/38 - 4/10/38 -
1939 3/20/40 3/20/40
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page after page devoted to tariff walls, deflationary
measures, unemployment relief, monetary panic, and
government subsidization of faltering industries.

A second factor was the revelation of the Stavisky

scandal.1 Throughout 1933, the French had watched in

frustration as a series of cabinets failed to cope with the
nation's financial predicaments. While the people were
becoming poorer, the exposure of the Stavisky episode in
early January 1934 showed that certain politicians and their
associates in public office were becoming richer. Serge
Stavisky, a Jewish financier, was the brain behind a major
fraud concerning the issue of millions of dollars of francs
based on the fictitious assets of a municiéal pawn shop in
the small town of Bayonne. Before Stavisky could be
questioned, he was found in January 1934--shot to death at
the ski resort of Chamonix.

The fact that the public prefect of Paris, Georges
Pressard, had put off prosecuting infractions of Stavisky

nineteen times was serious enough but what was worse, his

1On the scandal, see James Joll, ed., The Decline of
the Third Republic (London: St. Antony's Papers, 1959),
pp. 9-35; Alexander Werth, France in Ferment (New York:
Harper and Brothers, 1934); Laurent Bonnevaye, Les Journées
sanglantes de février 1934. Pages d'histoire (Paris:
Flammarion, 1935); and France, Assemblee nationale, 1871-
1940, Session de 1934, Rapport général fait au nom de la
commission d'enquete chargée de rechercher les causes et les
origines des événements du 6 février 1934 et les jours
sulvants ainsi que toutes les responsabilités encourues,
2 vols. (Paris: Imprimerie de la Chambre des députés, 1934).
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prother-in-law was French Premier Camille Chautemps. About
the same time, it was discovered that two men in Chautemps'
cabinet, Albert Dalimier, minister of colonies, and Eugéne
Raynaldy, minister of justice were implicated in the fraud-
ulent bond issue and thus forced to resign. 1In spite of
sporadic street disturbances during January against the
"crooks" in the Palais-Bourbon (Chamber of Deputies),
chautemps refused to appoint an investigating committee.
This only served to increase public indignation and rather
than risk further hostility, Chautemps resigned on

January 28, 1934 in spite of the fact he had a parliamentary
majority in both housés.

Daladier's arrival did not help. Almost immediately
he was forced to remove the Paris Police Chief Jean Chiappe
who had failed to take an active position against Stavisky
on whom he had a stacked dossier. The firing of Chiappe,
well liked on the right, became another reason for the
leagues to demand the resignation of the Daladier regime.
On the night <of February 6, 1934, rightist demonstrators
estimated at close to 10,000 mobbed the Place de 1la
Concorde and attempted to storm the Seine bridge leading to
the Palais-Bourbon. Cries of "Down with the Crooks" were
mingled with gun shot as the Garde Publique killed several
demonstrators.

The composition of the mob, mainly rightist leagues

such as the Camelots du Roi, Jeunesses Patriotes, Croix de
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Feu, and Solidarité Francaise along with veterans organi-
Fd
gzations such as the Union National des Combattants, led

leftists to believe that a fascist coup was imminent.. Three

days later oh February 9, 1934, the Communists staged a
massive demonstration against the "fascists" and on |
February 12, 1934, a twenty-four hour strike by the
Socialist dominated trade unions was held. Daladier was
forced out on February 8, 1934 and the conservative Gaston
Doumergue replaced him in a ministry of national union which
boasted Marshal Pétain as war minister.

Aside from a severely damaged faith in the parlia-
mentary process, the repercussions of the Stavisky affair
helped to polarize the left against the right in an atmos-
phere of extremism that colored foreign affairs and
inevitably weakened the development of a strong foreign
policy. Thus the Popular Front coalition interpreted the
concessions to Mussolini in North Africa as representative
of appeasement by right wing fascists while the rightists
looked upon a strengthened Franco-Societ pact as a means
used by leftists (especially the Communists) to infiltrate
France with Bolshevism. The Popular Front, in fact, with
its coalition of Communists, Socialists, and Radicals was
as much a front against fascism as it was an instrument for
social reform.

A third factor that contributed to parliamentary

weakness was the multiplicity of parties, a situation which
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encouraged individualism over conformism and which sometimes

forced premiers to rely on shaky coalitions. A look at

Figures 2 and 3 (pp. 95-96), reflecting the distribution of
political groups in the Palais~Bourbon's semicircular amphi-
theater, showed the number of parties to have been in
excess of thirteen for the fifteenth legislature and in
excess of ten for the sixteenth.

On the far left sat the Communists. Supposedly
devoted to the goal of the Communist International
(Kominterm) , their party was obliged in a doctrinal sense
to work for the overthrow of bourgeois governments in the
movement toward the séread of world communism. In reality,
it was not a revolutionary force but a participant in the
government of the Third French Republic. Under the
leadership of Jacques Duclos and Maurice Thorez, it repre-
sented the workers and small wage earners.

To their right lay the Socialists under the
leadership of Léon Blum, a jurist, scholar, and wealthy
Parisian. His party also represented the workers and their
needs but stressed the move toward social progress by
working within the framework of legitimate national
government. Understood was a strong desire for peace.
Consequently, matters of national defense were neglected or
poorly understood.

Their neighbor was the Radical party led by Edouard

Daladier. The son of a baker, Daladier, a former teacher of
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SOURCES: Grand Larousse Encyclopédique (Paris: Librairie
Larousse, 1960~64), 3:819-21; JOC, June 21, 1932, pp. 2298-2300.

NOTES: The JOC lists 608 deputies in 1932 and 603 in 1935.
Déat, Ramadier, and Renaudel defected from the Socialists in 1933 to
form the Parti Socialiste de France. The Unité Ouvriére party was
loyal to Trotsky while the S.F.I.C. or Sectlon Francaise de
1'Internationale Communiste obeyed Stalin.
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Larousse, 1960-64), 3:821; Joc, June 12, 1936, pp. 1443-1445. I have
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offshoot of the Socialist party.
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history and geography, replaced Edouard Herriot as leader
of a party originally founded in the late nineteenth century
on an anticlerical note. With this issue long dead, the
party survivéd on the sheer inertia of a bourgeois elec-
torate content to live in a closed circuit world and intent
on maintaining the economic status quo. Its electorate of
school teachers, civil servants, and small town merchants
understood little of defense matters other than the name of
Pétain and the security for which the Maginot Line suppos-
edly stood. In the chamber, it was a pivot. TIf it voted
right, it shared control with the moderates and conserv-
atives. If it voted ieft, it shared control with the
Socialists.2

To their right lay the center or what Yves Simon has
described as the "spectacle of absolute confusion."3
Reflecting a post World War I tendency away from left and
right, this conglomeration of political groupings repre-
sented more the individual concerns of electors and elec-

torate rather than those of any particular political

2Reynaud in a conversation at the house of French
man of letters, André Maurois, described the Radical party
as a man who wants both wife and mistress. The mistress was
the Socialist party and the wife, the moderates of the
center. The mistress provided love but the wife owned the
house and bank balance. According to Reynaud, these senti-
mental oscillations were the key to French politics. See
André Maurois, Choses nues (Paris: Gallimard, 1963), p. 132.

3Yves Simon, La Grande crise de la république
francaise, observations sur la vie politique des francais de
19187a 1938 (Montréal: Editions de l'arbre, 1941), p. 102.
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jndividualism par excellence. Here reigned the cult of the
Personality: Pierre~Etienne Flandin, André Tardieu, Paul
Reynaud, and Jean Fabry. Unified only during electoral
periods under campaign agencies such as the Democratic
Alliance, the centrist deputies voted more their conscience
than they did party loyalties. Generally speaking, on

economic and social issues, the groups of the center tended

to support their more conservative neighbors to the right.

Here was Louis Marin's Republican Federation party,
a group of deputies who believed in maintaining established
economic interests which included the avoidance of state
interference in business. Their electorate were farmers,
conservative bourgeoisie and heads of smali businesses.
With the splinter parties to their right, they considered
themselves republicans although among their ranks were those
whose faces were turned toward the ancien regime. Here sat
the most vocal of the anti-Semites (Xavier Vallat), the
disabled World War I veterans turned super nationalists
(Georges Scapini), the parliamentary representatives of
extraparliamentaryileagues such as Pierre Taittinger for
Jeunesses Patriotes and Jean Ybarnegaray for Colonel de la
Rocque's Croix de feu as well as Philippe Henriot, the
spokesman for Action frangaise, a pseudointellectual and

xenophobic following of Charles Maurras devoted to the
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restoration of authqritarian rule either by ménarchy or in
some other fashion.4 |

Aside from the shaky status of governments relying
on a coalition, the multiplicity of parties had another
debilitating effect: a deputy or group, once they had
crossed the threshold from their electoral victories,
entered a chamber influenced less by the campaign platform
that elected them but by power swings from left to right.
Thus the Socialists entered the 1936 legislature excited
over carrying out socioeconomic reforms. One of these, a
bill restricting the work week to forty hours, was their
key measure. Caught in a web of financial difficulties,
however, the Blum ministry (ruling in coalition with the
Radicals) collapsed and power passed from Chautemps to
Daladier who in a coalition government of Radiéals and
moderates included Reynaud as finance minister. One of
Reynaud's first moves was to have the forty hour law

repealed.

4Action francaise was extraparliamentary since it
had no organized political party. Its center of action was
its newspaper, L'Action frangaise and its street league,
Camelot du Roi. An unflattering but accurate portrait of
the right can be found in Charles Micaud's The French Right
and Nazi Germany, 1933-39 (Durham, North Carolina: Duke
University Press, 1943), pp. 14, 222, 225-26. Micaud cites
the blindness of the right in their anti-Soviet attitudes,
their overreliance on England, their subordination of
national interests to class interests, as well as their fear
of social revolution following such upheaval as the Spanish
Civil War. According to Micaud the moderates stressed
economic interests while the extreme right such as L'Action
frangaise, ideology.
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Thus the Radicals who up to this point had

supported the social reforms of the Popular Front were

forced to look to the right for help with the economy. In

!
g
i
3

doing so, they had to swallow other unpopular measures such
as Reynaud's 2 per cent sales tax and the lay off of
government workers. On the other hand, Reynaud had to play
down his comprehensive program for defense reform much of
which was unpalatable to Daladier. Later, his votes in
support of Daladier's military policy, the Munich accords,
and neutrality on the Spanish Civil Waf bore little
resemblance to his 1936 campaign platform: armored corps,
Franco-Soviet Pact, and a show of strength toward the
dictators. |

The ills of the fifteenth and sixteenth legislatures,
however, were not restricted to the imbalance between
executive and legislative, the internal weaknesses of the
chamber, the divisions wrought by rival ideologies, financial
difficulties, and scandal. They also surfaced in foreign
affairs and military strategy. Foreign policy was directed
by nine different ministers (see Table 3, ?age 89) whose
efforts to protect France's interests, needléss to say,
lacked the same intensity and continuity of purpose that

marked the efforts of Hitler and Mussolini.
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Nineteen thirty-three as Jean-Baptiste Duroselle has

put it ﬁas the "year of hesitations."s_ Daladier desired a

| rapprochement with Hitler but was not encouraged in such by
his foreign affairs minister, Joseph Paul-Boncour. Feelers
were put out toward the Soviet Union with whom a commercial
accord was signed in January 1934. Next came right wing
‘Louis Barthou who with the note of April 17, 1934 disengaged
France from the faltering disarmament conference and launched
the nation on the search for allies. Barthou was well on
the way to developing a military alliance with the Soviet
Union when he was murdered in Marseilles on October 9, 1934.

After the asséssination of Barthou, French foreigh
policy consisted of giving ground on all fronts. The
Hoare~Laval Pact of December 1935 allowed Mussolini a free
hand in Ethiopia; France allowed Germany to reoccupy the
Rhineland without lifting a finger; Blum declared noninter-
vention in Spain while Hitler and Mussolini sent soldiers
and arms to General Francisco Franco; Austria was annexed
in March 1938; and the Munich Accord allowed the Germans to
annex the Sudetenland thus leaving the remainder of
Czechoslovakia ripe for occupation.
Somehow, it never seemed to dawn on any of these

foreign ministers or their premiers to question whether a

military strategy of Maginot Line and couverture were

5Jean—Baptiste Duroselle, La Politique extérieure de
la I'rance de 1914 a 1945 (Paris: Centre de documentation
universitaire, n.d.), p. 228.
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compatible with assisting Belgium, the Petite Entente, ahd
poland. Did not such a strategy anticipate the development
of a continuous front followed by static warfare? 'Was not
a highly mobile and maneuverable column equipped with
armored tanks and artillery more valuable in coming to the

aid of potential allies?

The Other Deputies

The general atmosphere of the chamber, however, was
not conducive to the proper examination of these questions.
One reason for this was the predominance of electoral
interests based on tradition and economics. As late as
1933, Albert le Bail, a Radical, as well aé Oswen de
Kérouartz and Albert Thibault, two independents of the right,
protested the proposed reduction in the number of army
vhorses. Prompted by the depressed horse racing markets in
their districts, they argued that in wartime, blown out
bridges would prevent motorized vehicles from fording rivers
across which horses could swim.6

Another factor was the spirit of pécifism mixed with

an ignorance of the true aims of Hitler. As late as

December 1933, Blum, still convinced that the Geneva

30c, February 12, 1933, pp. 714-15, 717.
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disarmament conference could bring the German dictator
around, refused to vote the annual military budget.

A third factor was the blindness to military real-

aties resulting from preconceived but mistaken ideas. In
late 1934, Blum vehemently denounced the professional army

as laid down by de Gaulle in his Vers 1l'armée de métier.

In a nostalgic look to the past, the Socialists, according
to Blum, counted on the revolutionary rise of the masses to
keep the enemy at bay.8 In the same unrealistic vein but
even more so because of the fallacious nature of the charge,
Communist chief, Maurice Thorez, claimed that the high
command was going to ﬁse the professional army as part of a
capitalistic plot to destroy the workers.9

Another reason why the chamber was at a disadvantage
in discussing national defense was the failure of the
civilian politicians to establish a satisfactory rapport
with the military--this failure making it more difficult to
understand the issues at hand. One of the best examples of
this gap in civil-military relations was the debate that
took place on December 19, 1933. The speaker for the bill

was Joseph Bernier, a Radical. The measure he sponsored

proposed to cut military expenditures by delaying the call

730c, December 19, 1933, p. 4706.

830c, December 18, 1934, pp. 3315-16.

30c, March 15, 1935, pp. 1025, 1036-38.
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up of two months worth of draftees in every twelve month
period. These men would not be inducted until the 1935-39

period of the années creuses.

The measure, presented in a vague fashion, was

challenged by rightist Louis Marin who attempted to have it
10

~ returned to the army commission for further clarification.
General Maxime Weygand, chief of the general staff, noted in
his Mémoires that the bill weakened an army already suffering
the effects of a previous reduction. Weygand also noted that
even though the CSG had been opposed to the issue, Daladier
gave it his support in the chamber where it was passed by a
large majority withou£ benefit of adequate explanation or
discussion.11
The secondary role of the military was further in
evidence when during the course of the same debate, Jean
Fabry, a colonel-turned-politician and head of the army

commission, attempted to assure the chamber that the bill

did not weaken France's defense network even though he

admitted not knowing what type of reception Minister of War

Daladier had received from the CSG.12 Moreover, proof that

the high command was for some considered more of an opponent

than anything else surfaced when Bernier warned the chamber

1050c, December 19, 1933, pp. 4688-89.

11General Maxime Weygand, Mémoires, vol. 2: Mirages
et réalité (Paris: Flammarion, 1950-57), pp. 404-5.

12

JOC,- December 19, 1933, p. 4690.
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that they had better adopt the resolution rather than let

the CSG push through a measure lengthening the tour of duty

. - 13
from one to two years during the années creuses.

Worse yet the debates were from time to time marked
by pettiness and personal rivalry that diverted attention
from the business at hand and reduced the chamber pro-
ceedings to something akin to a farce. Thus during the
Bernier resolution debate, Daladier, vindictive, short-
tempered and belligerant, got into a vocal sparring match
with Tardieu. Having nothing to do with military affairs,
the feud temporarily centered on the revolutionary banquets
of 1848 before being concluded by having a number of leftist
deputies attack Tardieu for his role in a French West
African trading company scancial.14

The account of the important March 1935 debate, the
session during which Reynaud announced his support of the
armored corps, was unimpressive. General Joseph Maurin,
minister of war, advocated the passage of the Two Year Law
(then under discussion) while at the same time he affirmed

his belief in the impregnability of the Maginot Line. Fabry,

131pia., p. 4694.

141pid., p. 4699. The affair involved N'-Goko Sangha,
a colonial trading company in whose crooked dealings Tardieu
was implicated. At the time, this centrist was editor of
Le Temps. For details, see Rudolph Binion, Defeated Leaders
(The Political Fate of Caillaux, Jouvenal, and Tardieu)
(New York: Columbia University Press, 1960).

g |
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president of the army commission, could only testify to
the need for making the Two Year proposal a mandatory law
rather than an optional affair for future governments to

draw upon if they so wished to. Jean Sénac, a Radical and

1 speaker for the bill stated that "We can look at the future
with confidence based on the situation of the French army."
The debate was rounded out by rightist Louis Marin and

leftist Edouard Herriot whose unimpressive, subjective, and

15 The

poorly documented deliveries supported the measure.
overall meeting thus suggested that few deputies, if any,
were conscious of France's serious military weakness vis a
vis German rearmament.

While somewhat more aware of the threat during the
January-February debates of 1937, the deputies could not
form a united front. Instead, they broke off into a series
of disconnected criticisms involving the need for unified
command, construction of moré and better planes, air craft
carriers, roads, and increased military expenditures.
Little connection was made between foreign policy and
military strength and on matters of.strateéy, the influence

of Daladier predominated. Guy La Chambre, a Radical and

friend of Daladier's, attacked Reynaud's fer de lance theory

by saying that if the lance were broken, how could either

part survive? La Chambre also pointed out that fire power

15JOC, March 15, 1935, pp. 1031, 1045, 1048, 1050-51.
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from antitank artillery would prove deadly toAthe armored
divisions.

Louis Jacquinot, a member of Reynaud's

Républicains de Gauche et Radicaux Indépendants, wondered
how the specialists of the armored corps would be replaced
if their ranks were decimated during wartime. The sum total
of all this was general relief when Daladier concluded the
four day debate by reassuring the chamber that France would
hold the Maginot Line and that the army was strong.l7
paladier had spoken and the deputies were thus relieved of
their responsibilities. Still even as Daladier was
receiving general applause from all points in the chamber,
Le Figaro was writing how distressingly poor the quality of
the debate had been.18

The February 1938 debates were not much better.
Concentrating on foreign policy, the deputies discussed the
fast approaching Anschluss, North Africa, the Spanish Civil
War, the Franco-Soviet Pact, and the general situation in
Central Europe. Aside from the failure to connect military
doctrine to foreign policy, there was no agreement over what

to do about the various crises discussed. As in the 1935

debate, a false sense of optimism prevailed, but this time

1650c, February 2, 1937, p. 297.

17
1

JOC, January 26, 1937, p. 159.

8Le Figaro, February 10, 1937, p. 8.



108
jt was in reference to the departure of Foreign Secretary
Anthony Eden from the Chamberlain government.

Eden, who had resigned because of Chamberlain's

desire to recognize Italy's claims to Ethiopia, stated that
such an action betrayed the principles of collective:
security as set down by the League of Nations. Only the
communist, Gabriel Péri, predicted that Eden's replacement,
Neville Chamberlain, himself, would finish by appeasing
the dictators.19

The ignorance the majority of deputies showed to
Chamberlain's true nature was heightened by repeated dedi-
cations to the Magino£ Line mystique. Such was the
February 26, 1938 speech of Flandin. Wordy, longwinded,
subjective and lacking in force for want of a specific
program, Flandin tranquilized the chamber by reminding it
that 80 per cent of both German and French youth desired
peace. In the event that peace was not forthcoming, the
French still had their magnificent frontier fortresses.20

On the same day, the Chautemps ministry stated its
international position when Minister of Foreign Affairs
Yvon Delbos spoke unconvincingly of unity with Britain, of

the need for Franco-Soviet cooperation, ncnintervention in

Spain, and some kind of economic plan to hold the Danubian

ngOC, February 25, 1938, pp. 607-8.

20JOC, February 26, 1938, p. 640.
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region (Austria, Czechoslovakia, Hungary, and.Yugoslavia)
on the side of France.21 Similar to Flandin‘s, the speech
lacked force. Feebleness characterized its proposals which
Le Figaro described as weak, negative, routine, and worn
out--an accurate description of the debate in general.

Indeed, one of the more lively moments of the
session had nothing to do with solving national defense
problems. Instead, it concerned the Alsacian Jew and
Socialist, Salomon Grumbach. Grumbach found himself

repeatedly assaulted from the right with such statements as

the Socialists were responsible for French lack of military
preparedness, that Grumbach had been pro-German during
World War I, and that France was tired of being governed
by Jews.23 In such a charged atmosphere, constructive
interchange was difficult.

In spite of all, e small but vocal grouplechoed the
ideas of Reynaud. In December 1933, Jean de Nadaillac} a
member of Reynaud's Center Repdblican group, protested the
Maginot Line mentality with its accompanying false sense of
security. A year later, Républicain de Gauche André
Beauguitte demanded that the frontier fortresses be supple-

mented by armored divisions capable of repelling a lightning

2l1piga., p. 630.

22Le Figaro, February 27, 1938, p. 1.

23JOC, February 25, 1938, pp. 589-592. Even though
the Blum ministry fell in June of 1937, the Jewish politician
continued as vice-president of the cabinet under Chautemps.
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attack; and in March 1935, Jean Le Cour Grandmaison, an
independent on the right, repeated Beauguitte's idea by
asking for the creation of a maneuvering corps, the rank
and file of which would be selected from France's 500,000
unemployed.24

Further support in the March 1935 debate came from
Henri Franklin-Bouillon, a member of the Gauche Radicale.
Franklin-Bouillon charged that the government and the
deputies were ducking behind the shelter of the Two Year
Law in order to prevent the country from seeing the serious
weakness of France's military system. He felt it was wrong
for the government to tell the people Germany would even-
tually become peaceful, and also for the Sbcialists to
think that troop levels were the only issue at stake when
alliances, aviation, and armaments were just as important.
Until the government could reform the military, the alliance
system, and national life, France remained in terrible
danger. While Franklin-Bouillon did not touch directly on
the armored corps, he indicated that the country needed an
army of its foreign policy, the basic teneﬁ of Reynaud's
defense creed.25

In 1936, both Paul Perrin, an independent Socialist,

and Henri de Kerillis, an independent on the right, pleaded

24J0C, December 19, 1933, p. 4703; December 18, 1934,
p. 3325; March 15, 1935, pp. 1033-35.

2570C, March 15, 1935, p. 1051.
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for the development.of the armored corps so Ffance could
fulfill her international obligations in case of war.26

In 1937, Jean Quenette, an independent on the right,
warned that France needed Reynaud's armored corps or mobile
force as soon as possible because history and logic worked
against the Maginot Line theory. In the same debates,
Philippe Serre, an independent on the left, and Xavier
vallat, a member of the Republican Federation, also argued
for the project.27

In 1938, it was the speech of Jean Montigny, a
member of the Gauche Democratique et Radicaux Independants,
that rose above the mediocrity of the debates by noting that
foreign policy had to be joined to an effective military
strategy. 1In this respect, the Spanish Civil War showed
that a fortified front could not hold against tanks; and
since these highly sophisticated weapons would play the
decisive role, France needed a specialized army capablé of
taking the offensive as Paul Reynaud had described. France
needed, according to Montigny, divisions adept at rupturing

enemy lines. Such a mobile army could prevent another

26
p. 1543.

27JOC, January 26, 1937, pp. 206-7; January 29, 1937,
pp. 256-59,

JOC, January 21, 1936, pp. 108-9; June 23, 1936,
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phineland disaster. Did France have this army? No. Thus

France did not have the army of her policy.28

In weighing the effects of Reynaud on the chamber,
it is clear that not only did others share his views, but
they also used his ideas as a frame“of reference. Moreover,
most of these deputies came from splinter parties or were

deserters from the more disciplined, influential groups

where free opinions on national defense were not entertained.
The extreme left, the left, and the conservative right of
Louis Marin for the most part presented little innovative

thinking on military reform.

Reaction to Reynaud's Speeches

In spite of this, Reynaud could, from time to time,
elicit from these groups a noticeable reaction in terms of
applause as indicated in Table 4, page 113. Applause,
whicﬁ-ﬁhen recorded by parliamentary stenographers served as
a barometer of a deputy's oratorical effectiveness,29 was on
more than one occasion repeatedly received by Reynaud from

all corners of the chamber. This is evident from looking at

28JOC, February 26, 1938, pp. 633-34. Reynaud does
not mention Montigny on connection with the armored corps.
In La France a sauvé l1'Europe, 1:403, Reynaud called the
Deputy a partisan of the "resignation of France [in 1940]."

29For an example of how this applause as well as
other commentary were recorded in the Journal Officiel, see
in Appendix B, a sample page of Reynaud's December 1935
speech.
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TABLE 4
APPLAUSE FACTOR

Reaction of Chamber of Deputies to
Reynaud's Speeches 1933-39

Number of Separate Occasions Applause
Received

Date of Speech and ~ Chamber *
Description E| E-L|E-L-C{L-C{L-C-R| L|C| C-R|R| GA

2/24/33--National defense
credits** 1

3/15/35--Armored corps 1 10 5

12/27/35~-Anti-Laval,
sanctions against Italy, .
pro-English 15 4 3 15

7/31/36~-Franco-Russian
Pact, armored corps,
plea for unity 3 1 1 3

12/4/36~--Franco-Russian Pact/
viable foreign policy 1 2 3 1 4 3

12/5/36--Government iner-
tia faced with Italo-
German rapprochement** 1

1/26/37--~Armored corps,
lack of arms, unified
- command ) 211 6

2/26/38~-National union,
arms weakness, weakness
in military strategy 1 3 1 11

3/17/38--National union** 1 2 3

5/12/39--National union*#* 3

SOURCES: JOC, 1933: p. 921; 1935: pp. 1040-43; 1936:
pp. 2306-7, 3323-25, 3352; 1937: pp. 168-73; 1938: pp. 646-9, 842-3;
1939: p. 1319.

*E-extreme left, L-left, C-center, R-right, GA-general
applause. **Brief speech.
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the general applause column on the far right, an indice
that testified to the nonpartisan appeal of certain aspects
of Reynaud's speeches.

While the left and the extreme left were not
enthusiastic when Reynaud presented his plan for the
armored corps on March 15, 1935 and on January 26, 1937,
they gave him remarkable response on his December 27, 1935
speech advocating sanctions against Italy and a joint hard
line policy toward the dictators by Britain and France.
They also gave him support on the Franco-Soviet Pact and on
pleas for national union during 1938.

The situation of the center-right was somewhat
different.  Starting out by giving Reynaud a magnificent
"applause factor (number of separate occasions applause
received) of ten on his March 15, 1935 speech, the center-
right dwindled in its support of Reynaud following the
devastating December 27, 1935 speech. From that point on,
the center-right was no longer a focal point since it was
submerged in the generai applause.

This was most noticeable on February 28, 1938. It
was this speech of Reynaud's--pleading for national unity

and defense needs--that Paris ‘Soir called magnificent in its

ability to draw applause from three-quarters of the chamber,

the exception being the Communists and the extreme right.30

30Paris Soir, February 28, 1938, p. 1.
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Press comment on the centrist's other speeches noted
Reynaud's power over the deputies. "A thunderous applause,"”

wrote L'Echo de Paris of the December 27, 1935 speech,

"rolled from the left. The Radicals [and] the Socialists

literally drink the words of Mr. Paul Reynaud. . . . On the

31 Eight

right, they look on with surprise and sadness."
months later, the same paper remarked that Reynaud's

speeches were important, his ideas lucid, and his talent
demanded the silence as well as the respect of the entire

chamber.32 As if in affirmation of this, Vendémiaire, a

weekly of the same center-right orientation, went so far as
to suggest that Reynaﬁd, in his capacity to transcend party
barriers (as evidenced from the general applause column),
had the necessary stuff to hew out for himself, a prime
ministership.33
The capacity to transcend, the powerful control over
the chamber Qere, however, only momentary phenomena. At
voting time, party and personal interests neutralized
Reynaud's oratorical effect. His fatal flaw was to indulge
in the luxury of political isolation, a chronic disease
common to centrist deputies in the last years of the Third

Republic and an ailment that interfered in dealing with the

realities of chamber politics. Reynaud simply did not have

31L'Echo de Paris, December 28, 1935, p. 3.

' 32L'Echo de Paris, August 1, 1936, p. 1.

33Vendémiaire, January 3, 1936, p. 7.
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the political force behind him that could have formulated
and pushed through measures geared to his speeches and that
could have got the needed parliamentary majority. An
explanation of this contradiction between applause factor

and voting urn was given by Revue bleue:

In an assembly where discourteous sectarianism
is the daily rule, ne [Reynaud] has succeeded in
making himself listened to and it is a mystery to
no one that his ideas are very often approved by
those to whom political obedience will impose a
hostile vote. . . .34
Perhaps the best example of Reynaud's failure to
connect parliamentary speech to political action was the
national union fiasco of early 1938. France, beset with
increasingly severe financial difficulties and mounting
foreign peril, was in trouble. To cope with this, Blum
attempted to broaden his government's political base. Thus
on January 16, 1938, the Socialist leader in his capacity as
vice premier of the faltering Chautemps ministry asked
Reynaud to join a cabinet stretching from Jacques Duclos
on the Communist left to Reynaud, himself, in the center.
Reynaud responded by demanding that Louis Marin, head of the
rightist Republican Federation, be included.3b Blum's party
refused this request. The next attempt at union occurred

on March 12, 1938 at which time the Socialists acquiesced

with Reynaud's demand of January 16, 1938. On this occasion,

34Revue bleue, February 20, 1937.

35Reynaud, Mémoires, 2:177-78.
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however, Flandin along with the majority of moderates
rejected the plan.36

Finally, on March 23, 1938, Reynaud got a petition
signed by seventy-seven moderates demanding national union

in the form of a government of public safety; but this

measure--essentially anti-~flandiniste--evaporated without
37

bringing the needed change.

Sennep, the famous French caricaturist, best summed
up the impossibility of the situation in a cartoon depicting
as women, the four important party leaders: Marin, Herriot,
Blum, and Duclos. Each political chief has his pendulous
breasts bared. Reynaud, sketched as a leprechaun, had just
finished suckling the long shriveled breasts of Blum who in
turn, held up the Lilliputian centrist to the enormous left
mammary gland of Herriot. While Reynaud is tugging on the
stretched out Radical nipple, Marin and Duclos wait in
anticipatior;.38

Aside from its coarse humour, Sennep's cartoon
brought out a single important message: any national union
government that involved Reynaud in some political combi-

nation was ridiculous. The deputies would applaud him and

36Joseph Laniel, Jours de gloire de jours cruels
1908-1958 (Paris: Presses de la cité, 1971), p. 97.

37

Le Populaire, March 24, 1938, p. 2.

38Jean-—Jacques Pennes [Sennep] and Gassier, H. P.,
Histoire de France 1918-38 (Paris: Editions Mana, 1938),
not paginated. x
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his ideas but Reynaud's impact was more transitory than

lasting.

Key Politicians

In the absence of strong political ties, another
.measuring stick of the reaction to Reynaud lay in his
rapport with several key personalities: Daladier, Flandin,
Jean Fabry, André Tardieu, and Henri de Kerillis. Of these,
the relationship with Daladier was the most important since
as head of the pivotal party, the Radicals,’Daladier was
frequently premier, war minister or both. Smaller than
Reynaud, Daladier was‘introverted, distrustful, solitary,
and at times, petty and belligerant. He was the perfect
representative of the nothingness of the Radical party and
French bourgeoisie in general.39

Reynaud, who had had little direct dealing with
Daladier's Qorld before 1938, came more and more into the
picture when the Radical chief had to look to the center for

help with the financial crisis after the fall of the second

Blum ministry in April of 1938. At that time, Reynaud

39Daladier's pugnacious nature comes through in his
feud with Tardieu in the chamber debate of December 19,
1933, pp. 4699-4700. It was General Maurice Gamelin who
described Daladier as mistrustful. See his Servir, 2:91-92.
Pertinax in his description is more brutal. Daladier for
- him was spineless, jealous, suspicious, secretive, mediocre,
incompetent, weak, lacking in drive, not intellectually
alert, and unable to get results from the parliamentary
regime. See Gravediggers, pp. 90, 93, 102.
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obtained the justice portfolio in Dalaider's cabinet and
the finénces, the following November.40
Once at the finance ministry, Reynaud concentrated

on France's e¢onomic recovery, but the rapport between the
two men was strained. Fabry, a fellow centrist deputy,
offered a clue as to the cause when he stated that:

He [Daladier] is of that caliber of political
men in a hurry to get to the top where he knows,
however, that he will encounter some difficulties

beyond the resolution of the average man—--Paul 41
Reynaud--the same way only more so [italics mine].

Other evidence indicated that the relationship
between the two men was an uneasy truce of mutual toleration.
Pertinax, a right wing journalist and editor who wrote for

L'Europe Nouvelle and L'Ordre, quoted Daladier as having

stated: "Let him stay if he wants to but he must stop

repeating that my one idea is to be rid of him and he must

42

stop trying to get my job." If Pertinax is to be

believed, then L'Action francaise (Paris) simply reaffirmed
him when it stated that "Daladier, although knowledgeable,

is mistaken in believing he can contain Reynaud by including

40Reynaud was offered the finances in April but
states he declined b